
 

 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE MEETING 
 
Date: Wednesday, 14 December 2022 
Time:  7.00 pm 
Venue: The Sapling Room, The Appleyard, Avenue of Remembrance, Sittingbourne, Kent, 
ME10 4DE* 

 
Membership: 
 
Councillors Mike Baldock (Chair), Monique Bonney (Vice-Chair), Lloyd Bowen, 
Derek Carnell, Mike Dendor, Tim Gibson, Mike Henderson, Alan Horton, Julian Saunders, 
David Simmons, Bill Tatton, Roger Truelove, Tim Valentine, Mike Whiting and 
Corrie Woodford. 
 
Quorum = 5  

 
  Pages 

Information about this meeting 
*Members of the press and public can listen to this meeting live. Details of how 
to join the meeting will be added to the website by 12 December 2022. 
 
Recording and Privacy Notice  
 
Swale Borough Council is committed to protecting the security of your personal 
information. As data controller we process data in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulation. 
 
This meeting may be recorded. The recording will be retained in accordance 
with the Council’s data retention policy and may be published on the Council’s 
website. By entering the chamber and by speaking at a meeting, whether in 
person or online, you are consenting to being recorded and to the recording 
being published. 
 
When joining a meeting online, your username will be visible to others in 
attendance. In joining the meeting you are consenting to us processing your 
username. You may use a pseudonym as your username but the use of an 
inappropriate name may lead to removal from the meeting. 
 
If you have any questions about how we look after your personal information or 
your rights under the legislation, please email 
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk.  
 

 

1.  Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
Visitors and members of the public who are unfamiliar with the building 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk


 

 

and procedures are advised that:  

(a) No fire drill is planned during the meeting. If the alarm sounds please 
leave the building quickly without collecting any of your possessions, 
using the doors signed as fire escapes, and assemble outside where 
directed.  

(b) Await instructions before re-entering the building.  

(c) Anyone who requires assistance in evacuating the building should 
make officers aware of any special needs so that suitable 
arrangements may be made in the event of an emergency.  

  
2.  Apologies for Absence 

 

 

3.  Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 

other material benefits for themselves, their families or friends.  

 

The Chair will ask Members if they have any disclosable pecuniary 

interests (DPIs) or disclosable non-pecuniary interests (DNPIs) to declare 

in respect of items on the agenda. Members with a DPI in an item must 

leave the room for that item and may not participate in the debate or vote.   

 

Aside from disclosable interests, where a fair-minded and informed 

observer would think there was a real possibility that a Member might be 

biased or predetermined on an item, the Member should declare this and 

leave the room while that item is considered.  

 

Members who are in any doubt about interests, bias or predetermination 

should contact the monitoring officer for advice prior to the meeting. 

  

 

4.  Minutes 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2022 
(Minute Nos. TBC) as a correct record.  
  

 

Part A report for Recommendation to Council 
 

 

5.  Council Tax Support Scheme 
 

5 - 36 

Part B Reports for Decision by the Policy and Resources Committee 
 

 

6.  34 hour working week 
 

37 - 42 

7.  Q2 Budget Monitoring Report 
 

43 - 54 

8.  Performance Monitoring - 2022/23 Half-year 
 
This item was deferred from the Policy and Resources Committee on 30 
November 2022. 
  

55 - 64 

9.  Coronation of King Charles III 65 - 68 

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=353&MId=3899


 

 

 
10.  Recommendations from the Swale Joint Transportation Board meeting 

held on 5 December 2022 
 
To-follow. 
  

 

11.  Forward Decisions Plan 
 

69 - 72 

 

Issued on Tuesday, 6 December 2022 
 

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available 
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or 
to arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Committee, please visit 
www.swale.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council, 

Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

Policy and Resources Meeting  

Meeting Date 14 December 2022 

Report Title Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023 

EMT Lead Lisa Fillery, Director of Resources 

Head of Service Zoe Kent, Revenues and Benefits Manager 

Lead Officer Zoe Kent, Revenues and Benefits Manager 

Classification Open 

Recommendations 1. Policy and Resources are asked to recommend to 
Council to approve the introduction of  a new income 
banded / grid scheme for working age applicants with 
effect from 1st April 2023 to simplify the scheme for 
claimants, reduce the administrative burden placed on 
the Council by the introduction of Universal Credit and 
to improve the targeting of support for the lowest 
income families. 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
Purpose of the report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to recommend the implementation of the Council’s Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme with effect from 1st April 2023. 
 
1.2 Each year the Council is required to review its Council Tax Reduction Scheme in accordance 

with the requirements of the schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and to 
either maintain the scheme or replace it. 

 
1.3 Council Tax Reduction (CTR) was introduced from 1 April 2013 when it replaced the Central 

Government funded Council Tax Benefit regime. From its inception, the funding available to 
the Council from government has reduced year on year. 

 
1.4 As with the majority of authorities within England, the Borough Council needs to make 

changes to the CTR scheme for working age applicants (the scheme for pension age 
applicants in prescribed by Central Government) in order to reduce the significant 
administrative burden placed on the Council by the introduction of Universal Credit. 

 
1.5 This report recommends the adoption of a new scheme with effect from 2023/24. 
 
 

2 Background and Proposals 
 
2.1 Council Tax Reduction (CTR) was introduced by Central Government in April 2013 as a 

replacement for the Council Tax Benefit scheme administered on behalf of the Department 
for Work and Pensions (DWP). As part of the introduction, the Government: 

• Placed the duty to create a local scheme for Working Age applicants with billing 
authorities; 

• Reduced initial funding by the equivalent of ten per cent from the levels paid through 
benefit subsidy to authorities under the previous Council Tax Benefit scheme; and 

• Prescribed that persons of Pension age would be dealt with under regulations set by 
Central Government and not the authorities’ local scheme. 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 
2 

2.2 Since that time, funding for the Council Tax Reduction scheme has been amalgamated into 
other Central Government grants paid to Local Authorities and also within the Business Rates 
Retention regime. It is now generally accepted that it is not possible to identify the amount of 
funding actually provided from Central Government sources. 
 

2.3 The current Council Tax Reduction scheme administered by the Council is divided into two 
schemes, with pension age applicants receiving support under the rules prescribed by Central 
Government, and the scheme for working age applicants being determined solely by the local 
authority.  
 

2.4 Pensioners, subject to their income, can receive up to 100 per cent support towards their 
council tax. The Council has no power to change the level of support provided to pensioners 
and therefore any changes to the level of Council Tax Reduction can only be made to the 
working age scheme. 
 

2.5 When Council Tax Reduction was introduced in 2013, for working age applicants, the Council 
broadly adopted the previous means tested Council Tax Benefit scheme as the basis of 
awarding support and, due to the reduction in funding available from the Government, 
required that all working age applicants were required to make a minimum payment. The 
current minimum is 20% namely that all working age applicants can receive up to 80% support 
towards their Council Tax, subject to their level of income.  
 

2.6 Since that time only slight changes have been made to bring the scheme into line with either 
Housing Benefit or Universal Credit 

 
The main issues with the current scheme 
 
2.7 There are a number of issues with the current scheme that will need addressing if the system 

is to continue to provide effective support to low-income taxpayers and also if the Council is 
able to provide the service in an efficient manner. The main issues are as follows: 

• The introduction of Universal Credit for working age applicants; and 

• The need for a simplification of the scheme. 
 

2.8 Each of the above are examined in detail below: 
 

Council Tax Reduction and the roll out of Universal Credit 
 
2.9 The introduction of Universal Credit within the area has, as experienced in all other areas, 

brought a number of significant challenges to both the administration of Council Tax 
Reduction and also the collection of Council Tax generally. All Councils have experienced 
the following: 

• The reluctance of Universal Credit claimants to make a prompt claim for Council Tax 
Reduction leading to a loss in entitlement; 

• A high number of changes to Universal Credit cases are received from the Department 
for Work and Pensions requiring a change to Council Tax Reduction entitlement. On 
average 40% of Universal Credit claimants have between eight and twelve changes in 
entitlement per annum. These changes result in amendments to Council Tax liability, the 
re-calculation of instalments, delays, and the demonstrable loss in collection; and 

• The increased costs of administration through multiple changes with significant additional 
staff and staff time being needed. 

 
2.10 It is clear that the existing means tested Council Tax Reduction scheme, which is too reactive 

to change, will not be viable in the longer term now that Universal Credit has been rolled out 
fully within the area and with the massive increase in Universal Credit claimants due to the 
COVID-19 crisis and the continued roll out of the Government’s managed migration Page 6



 
3 

programme which will move all legacy benefit cases across to Universal Credit. 
 
2.11 The move to a new more efficient scheme from 2023 is now imperative. 

 
The need for a simplified approach to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 
 
2.12 Notwithstanding the introduction of Universal Credit, the existing scheme is based on an ‘old 

fashioned;’ means tested benefit scheme. It has major defects namely: 

• It is complex for customers to understand and is based on a complex calculation of 
entitlement; 

• The administration for staff is complex, with staff having to request significant amounts of 
information from applicants; 

• Staff have to undergo significant training to be proficient in processing claims; 

• The timescales for processing applications is lengthy, mainly due to the complexity and 
evidence required to support the applications; and 

• The administration of the scheme is costly when compared to other discounts for Council 
Tax.  

 
2.13 Clearly there is a need now to simplify the scheme, not only to mitigate the effects of Universal 

Credit, but also make it easier for customers to make a claim and to significantly reduce the 
costs of administration. 

 
The recommended approach for the 2023/24 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 
2.14 In view of the problems being experienced with the current scheme, it is recommended that 

an alternative approach be taken from 2023/24. The approach has been to fundamentally 
redesign the scheme to address all of the issues with the current scheme and in particular; 

(a) The problems with the introduction of full-service Universal Credit; and 
(b) The significant increase in administration costs due to the high level of changes 

received in respect of Universal Credit;  
 

2.15 Work has been ongoing since early this year on a new scheme which is now complete. 
Consultation has also been undertaken with the public and the major precepting authorities.  

 
2.16 The recommended new scheme has a number of features as follows: 

• More targeted support shall be given to those households on the lowest of incomes than 
in the current scheme. (It should be noted that the Council is not reducing the overall 
level of support); 

• The changes can only be made to the working age schemes as the current schemes 
for pensioners is prescribed by Central Government; 

• The current means - tested schemes will be replaced by a simple income grid model as 
shown in Table 1 below: 

 
  

Page 7



 
4 

Table 1  
  

Band  Discount Single 
Person      

Couple Lone 
Parent 
with 

one child 
or 

young 
person   

Couple 
with 

one child 
or 

young 
person   

Lone Parent 
with 
two 

children or 
young 

persons 

Couple  
with 
two 

children 
or 

young 
persons 

1* 80% £0 to  
£95.00 

£0 to  
£145.00 

£0 to  
£150.00 

£0 to  
£200.00 

£0 to  
£220.00  

£0 to  
£270.00  

2 60% £95.01 to 
£140.00 

£145.01  to  
£190.00 

£150.01 
to  

£200.00 

£200.01 to  
£250.00 

£220.01 
to £270.00  

£270.01 to  
£320.00  

3 40% £140.01 to 
£190.00 

£190.01  to 
£240.00 

£200.01 
to   

£250.00 

£250.01 to  
£300.00 

£270.01 
to £320.00 

£320.01 to  
£370.00 

4 20% £190.01 to 
 £270.00 

£240.01 to  
£320.00 

£250.01 
to  

£320.00 

£300.01 to  
£370.00 

£320.01 
to £400.00 

£370.01 to  
£450.00 

5 0% Over 
£270.00 

Over 
£320.00 

Over 
£320.00 

Over  
£370.00 

Over 
£400.00 

Over 
£450.00 

 
 

• It is recommended that the highest level of discount will continue to be at a current level 
(80%), Band 1, and all current applicants that are in receipt of a ‘*passported benefit’ 
such as Income Support, Jobseeker’s Allowance (Income Based) and Employment and 
Support Allowance (Income Related) receive maximum discount; 
 

• All other discount levels are based on the applicant’s and partner’s, (where they have 
one) net income; 

 

• The scheme allows for variation in household size with the levels of income per band 
increasing where an applicant has a partner, and / or dependants; 

 

• Where any households have non-dependants (e.g. adult children) residing with them, 
deductions will continue to be made, but will be charged at £10 per week where the non-
dependant is in work and £5 per week for those that are not in work; 

 

• To encourage work, a standard £25 per week disregard will be provided against all 
earnings This will take the place of the current standard disregards and additional 
earnings disregards. Where a family also receives a childcare disregard (for childcare 
costs not paid for by Central Government schemes), the income levels in the ‘grid 
scheme’ are set at a higher rate;  

 

• Disability benefits such as Disability Living Allowance and Personal Independence 
Allowance will continue to be disregarded; 

 

• Where any applicant, their partner or dependent child (ren) are disabled or are carers, a 
further disregard will be granted at the same level as the premiums that would have been 
granted under the previous scheme, thereby protecting this group; 

 

• Child benefit and Child Maintenance will continue to be disregarded; 
 

• Any applicant receiving Universal Credit will have the following disregarded: 
(a) An amount in respect of the housing element; 
(b) An amount in respect of any carer’s element; and 

Page 8



 
5 

(c) An amount in respect of any Limited Capability for Work and Work Related Activity 
element; 

 

• The total disregard on war pensions and war disablement pensions will continue; 
 

• Extended payments will be removed; and 
 

• The capital limit of £10,000 will remain, with no tariff (or assumed income) being applied. 
 

How the new scheme will address the problems with the current Council Tax Reduction  
 
2.17 With the simplicity of the new scheme and by taking a more ‘Council Tax discount approach’, 

it will address the problems associated with the increased administration caused by failings 
in the current scheme and Universal Credit as follows: 

• The scheme will require a simplified claiming process. All applicants will see a 
significant reduction in the claiming process and, where possible, Council Tax Reduction 
will be awarded automatically. For Universal Credit applicants any Universal Credit data 
received from the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) will be treated as a claim for 
Council Tax Reduction. Where information is received from DWP, the entitlement to 
Council Tax Reduction will be processed automatically without the need to request further 
information from the taxpayer. These changes will have the following distinct advantages 
namely: 
o Speed of processing – all claims will be able to be calculated promptly and largely 

automatically without the need to request further information which inevitably leads to 
delays;  

o Maximising entitlement to every applicant. As there will be no requirement for 
Universal Credit applicants to apply separately for Council Tax Reduction, and for all 
other applicants, the claiming process will be simplified significantly. Entitlement to 
Council Tax Reduction will be maximised with a reduced risk of loss of discount or the 
need for backdating; 

o Maintenance of collection rates – the new scheme will avoid constant changes in 
discount, the need for multiple changes in instalments and therefore assist in 
maintaining the high collection rates currently achieved. The increased level of 
discount will assist all those applicants on the lowest levels of income, again improving 
the overall collection rate; 

• The income bands are sufficiently wide to avoid constant changes in discount. The 
current Council Tax Reduction scheme is very reactive and will alter even if the overall 
change to the person’s liability is small. This is leading to constant changes in Council 
Tax liability, the need to recalculate monthly instalments and the requirement to issue a 
large number of Council Tax demands. The effect of this is that Council Tax collection is 
reduced. The new scheme, with its simplified income banding approach will have the 
following advantages: 
o Only significant changes in income will affect the level of discount awarded; 
o Council Taxpayers who receive Council Tax Reduction will not receive multiple 

Council Tax demands and adjustments to their instalments; and 
o The new scheme is designed to reflect a more modern approach, where any discount 

changes will be effective from the day of the change rather than the Monday of the 
following week. 

 
Transition to the new scheme and the Exceptional Hardship Scheme 
 
2.18 The Council must be mindful that any change in scheme or a transition to a new scheme may 

have result in a change to the entitlement of certain applicants. 
 

Page 9



 
6 

2.19 Inevitably, with any change in scheme, there will be some winners and losers although the 
new scheme has been designed to protect the most vulnerable. The new scheme will contain 
additional provisions to protect individuals who experience exceptional hardship. Where any 
applicant is likely to experience exceptional hardship, they will be encouraged to apply for an 
exceptional hardship payment. The Council will consider all applications for exceptional 
hardship on an individual basis, taking into account available income and essential outgoings. 
Where appropriate further support will be given to the applicant.  

 
2.20 This approach will enable individual applicants to be dealt with in a fair and equitable manner. 

The Exceptional Hardship Scheme will form part of the Council Tax Reduction scheme and 
fall to be paid through the Collection Fund. 

 

3 Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
3.1 The alternative to introducing a new scheme for Council Tax Reduction from 2023/24 is to 

leave the existing scheme in place.  
 
3.2 This would be a short-term option; lead to increasing costs of administration; and in the longer 

term, significantly affect the collection of Council Tax and the effectiveness of the scheme to 
support households within the Council’s area. 

 
 

4 Consultation Undertaken  
 
4.1 A full consultation process was undertaken in line with the legislative requirements. Both 

major preceptors and the public (including other stakeholders) were asked to provide their 
views on the changes. 
 

4.2 No comments were received  the major preceptors. and an analysis of responses from both 
public and other stakeholders is shown within Appendix I. 

 
4.3 The public consultation ended on 27th November 2022 and the Council received 277 

responses to the proposed changes. In summary the responses were overwhelmingly in 
favour of the changes as follows: 

 
Question Yes 

% 
No 
% 

Don’t 
know 

% 

The introduction of an Income Grid scheme to replace the current 
scheme for all applicants of working age? 
 

74.18 7.69 18.13 

Changing the Non-Dependant deductions. 69.14 11.11 19.75 

To replace the current earnings disregards and replace them with a 
standard £25 per week disregard irrespective of the number of hours 
worked 

73.72 8.33 17.95 

To provide additional income disregards for the disabled and carers 
 

88.96 4.55 6.49 

The scheme will disregard certain crisis payments paid to taxpayers 
(Local Welfare Provision) 
 

90.26 1.30 8.44 

 

  

Page 10



 
7 

5 Implications 
 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan The objectives and priorities in the corporate plan. 
Performance is measured through BV9 Percentage of Council Tax 
collected in year. 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

The current Council Tax Reduction scheme costs approximately 
£10m which is borne by the Council’s Collection Fund. Costs are 
shared between the Council and the Major Precepting Authorities in 
the following proportions: 

• Borough Council (11.2%); 

• The County Council (73.0%); 

• Police and Crime Commissioner  (11.6%); 

• Fire and Rescue Service (4.2%); 
The approach and ‘shape’ of the scheme is changing, and the 
overall approach will be to target support to low income households 
although the maximum level of support remains in line with the 
current scheme.  
 
There is no intention to reduce the level of support available to other 
households. Based on current modelling, were the new scheme to 
be in place at the current time, the costs would be at the same level 
as at present namely £10m 
 

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

Schedule 1A (3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, states: 
Before making a scheme, the authority must: 

• consult any major precepting authority which has power to 
issue a precept to it, 

• publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit, and 

• consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have 
an interest in the operation of the scheme. 

 
In addition, in order to set a new scheme, the Council is obliged to 
make a resolution by 11th March of the year prior to the scheme 
coming into place. 
 
The Council has followed the legal requirements throughout. 
 

Crime and 
Disorder 

Not directly applicable 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

The recommended scheme will provide a modern, more efficient 
scheme which will be more straightforward to administer for staff to 
administer.  
 
By reducing the number of changes made to entitlement, the new 
scheme will minimise the effect on the environment.  
 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Council Tax Reduction is essential for low income households. 
Ensuring that it is paid correctly to all applicants who may be entitled 
will assist the health and wellbeing of working age low income 
households. 

Page 11



 
8 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

The proposed scheme contains provisions for dealing with 
vulnerability and protects both families, applicants who are disabled 
and carers. 
 
In all cases, where an applicant is of the opinion that they require 
additional support, they may apply to assistance under the Council’s 
Exceptional Hardship Scheme. 
 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

Not directly applicable 

Equality and 
Diversity 

The move to the new scheme will either have a neutral or positive 
affect to the majority of working age claimants. From current 
modelling 5,381 claimants will receive the same or more support that 
under the previous scheme. 
 
As with all changes however there will be up to 673 claimants who 
may receive less support that previous. In all of those cases, further 
support will be available through the Council’s Exceptional Hardship 
Fund. 
 
A full Equality Impact Assessment is included within Appendix III. 
 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

All requirements have been adhered to. 

 

7 Appendices 
 
7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the report: 

• Appendix I [Responses from Public Consultation] 
• Appendix II [Equality Impact Assessment] 

 

  

Page 12



 
9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix I [Responses from Public Consultation] 
 

  

Page 13



 
10 

Swale Borough Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 
Consultation 
1. Background to the Consultation  
 

1. I have read the background information about the Council Tax Reduction Scheme: This question 
must be answered before you can continue.  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

99.28% 275 

2 No   
 

0.72% 2 

 
answered 277 

skipped 0 

 
2. Part 1 – The introduction of an Income Grid scheme to replace the current scheme for all 
applicants of working age  
 

2. Do you agree with introducing an income-based banded discount scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

74.18% 135 

2 No   
 

7.69% 14 

3 Don't Know   
 

18.13% 33 

 
answered 182 

skipped 95 

 

3. If you disagree with introducing an income-banded scheme please explain why and what 
alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 21 

1 Whilst agree with principal of the banded approach, don't feel the content could be simpler or fairer for some people, eh 
hours worked and initial income disregard is likely to be more financially beneficial to part time workers 

2 It would help if the Swale website's Band classification lined up with the .Gov website classification. The .Gov website says I 
am band C, I have no clue what that is on the Swale website. The Council should take each household on a case by case 
basis. Such as in this household I am over 60, on Universal Credit and care for a disabled adult who lives in this house and a 
separate working adult. In the current set up I pay the majority of council tax out of my Universal Credit while the working 
adult only pays roughly 30% of the amount. 

3 You say there will be winners and losers, but it is not clear how individual circumstances will affect claims. 

4 it will depend as my daughters minimum wage went up with everyone elses but because of this her wages went up by £12 a 
week so we lost the £12 housing benefit we were receiving, if minimum wage goes up you should not lose housing benefit as 
it is still ‘minimum wage’ 

5 Should not include personal pension.  

6 Im unsure on how this would impact me 

7 I would like there to be more help for people in full time employment that already pay a large amount of tax 

8 I disagree with introducing an income banded scheme as it is even more open to fraud. Also it is an administrative nightmare. 
You should make thing simpler and not more convoluted.  

Page 14



 
11 

3. If you disagree with introducing an income-banded scheme please explain why and what 
alternative would you propose?  

9 The explanation of which band you fall into is not clear. I looked on the web site and could not find any information. Without 
understanding that, I am unable to take a view as to whether it is fair or not.  

10 Those who work more are continually penalised and those who claim are rewarded by paying less.  

11 I work full-time and why would i want to pay more based on my income when those who not even trying to work will pay as 
less as.This is a bit unfair. 

12 Uniform payment across property types is more in keeping with equality. 

13 I currently receive 25% discount as a single person having to shoulder the extra expenditure the cost of living crisis is having 
on my disposable income your changes will be tipping me into poverty. 
I wouldn't be considered as vulnerable but I do have health conditions that don't qualify me for extra help  
I have worked for 45 years and don't believe anything I say will make a blind bit of difference to what you will do  
I just want you to know that those not on benefits are also struggling to manage and don't get anything or any consideration 
I am now one of the working poor due to the inept government we have  
Give up some of your expenses don't ask me to pay more  

14 Because people who are working don't get any support on their council tax or discount on their council tax and people who 
are working will have to pay more money for people who don't work 

15 The value of the property should dictate the amount of council tax not the income. 

16 People go to work and should be credited for going. I understand some people are unable to and these people need support. 
 
I work 48hours a week and strive to live comfortablly, while I have a mate and his misses earning just as much as me and 
neitger worked since covid and neither plan to. Under the new scheme they would have a full deduction while I would pay 
more. It encourages people to live of benefits. 

17 It doesn’t seem fair. There is a risk that some people currently receiving help would end up worse off 

18 Lone parent should be where the partner has passed away. Otherwise they should be paying towards the child. All benefits 
should be considered. If people want to live in a specifc area they should be aware of the cost of living and not rely on tax 
payers 

19 I do not understand what information is being shown in table 1 
 
What are the bands and how are they determined? 
How is the level of discount determined and by whom? 
How is the precise level of discount determined as there appears to be a substantial range given within each cell? 

20 Passported cases should be assessed on income too  

21 My wife and I have moved from New Zealand where land size and house value are the basis for council tax. Why would you 
tax my income twice, as a government council. 

 

 
answered 21 

skipped 256 

 
3. Part 2 - Changing the Non-Dependant deductions.  
 

4. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

69.14% 112 

2 No   
 

11.11% 18 

3 Don't Know   
 

19.75% 32 

 
answered 162 

skipped 115 

 

Page 15



 
12 

5. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 15 

1 I agree with keeping deductions at £10 per week for non-dependent working individuals to incentivise work.  
 
On that basis I think the non-working non-dependents discount should be removed in order to further incentivise going to 
work.  
 
This way people know if they go to work they will help with earning the discount - rather than giving them a higher discount 
for staying off work than they already receive  

2 Consider mirroring UC (no deduction if non-dependant is aged under 21).  

3 I do to a degree, however I do believe that an NDD who is disabled and claims PIP/DLA should be exempt - in line with NDD 
for UC.  

4 The amount from 3. 50 to 5.00 is not simplifying anything. So this is inacrate as a benefit to change.  

5 This is a broad stroke and does not take into consididtion the personal circumstances.  

6 Why encourage people not to work by upping their money 

7 There should always be an incentive for people to work 

8 Everyone should pay council tax - it is a tax on your property. Just lower the council tax in general so more people mange to 
pay it. Making all those dispensations and giving people Tax Credits is not solving the problem. 

9 Equality 

10 Poll tax comes to mind be prepared for the reaction  

11 Work class don't get anything reduce for them so again we aren't being supported  

12 Things are working well as they are now. 

13 My son is disabled,I am his full time career as everything is getting more expensive I can’t see how I will afford yet another 
increase in my outgoings even if it is a small amount. 

14 Some people can’t work due to disabilities.  

15 All I know is. I can’t afford to pay the amount already required. With my new mortgage rate, gas and electric that’s 80% of our 
wage. Now that’s without food, council tax etc  

 

 
answered 15 

skipped 262 

 
4. To replace the current earnings disregards and replace them with a standard £25 per week 
disregard irrespective of the number of hours worked  
 

6. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

73.72% 115 

2 No   
 

8.33% 13 

3 Don't Know   
 

17.95% 28 

 
answered 156 

skipped 121 

 

Page 16



 
13 

7. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 8 

1 Whilst simplifying it is helpful for the council to administer and people to understand, the same amount irrespective of hours 
worked does seem unfair for workers and not necessarily encourage people to work full time hours as this may not increase 
their income when taking into account potential benefit income including council tax reduction scheme 

2 You say it incentivises “work”, but pays little regard to those unable to increase their levels of work for a variety of reasons. 

3 Why should someone in work benefit more than now? Why should childcare disregards remain? if you have children you 
should be responsible for paying for childcare, I can't afford for my council tax to be increased to pay more for those in work or 
who have children. Why should any income be disregarded; HMRC doesn't disregard any of my income where tax is 
concerned. 

4 this may not take into account personal circumstance which may lead to more hardship practically in the current climate. 

5 For the same reasons as my precious answer. 

6 People who work full time arent getting anything reduce  

7 I don’t think its fair for low earners  

8 Lone parents disregard should be higher, in line with universal credit rules regarding working with a child. Larger deductions 
the younger the child  

 

 
answered 8 

skipped 269 

 
5. Part 4 - To provide additional income disregards for the disabled and carers  
 

8. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

88.96% 137 

2 No   
 

4.55% 7 

3 Don't Know   
 

6.49% 10 

 
answered 154 

skipped 123 

 

9. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 4 

1 Those claiming P.I.P OR disability allowance should have a standard allowance deducted from council tax support the same 
as the working but at a lower rate.  
Reason being those claiming these benefits are better off than those who are working part time hours with extra universal 
credit income as much as £300 a month without any deductions at all. Part time workers working plus 16 hours or more than 
£350 per month have 60p deducted per pound earned plus a deduction in council tax support, so it would only seem fair that 
those who have extra income in disability allowance should have a slight deduction in their council tax support.  

2 More benefits is not the answer, it would be much better to move people with disabilities to homes for disable people where 
they can be looked after. 

3 Allowances are provided for disabled people. In some cases the income is significantly higher than minimum wage.  

Page 17



 
14 

9. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

4 People receive benefits as a 'wage' because they cannot work. I do not see why they should then become exempt from 
paying council tax, especially when benefits always increase with inflation and wages do not. 

 

 
answered 4 

skipped 273 

 
6. Part 5 - The scheme will disregard certain crisis payments paid to taxpayers (Local Welfare 
Provision)  
 

10. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

90.26% 139 

2 No   
 

1.30% 2 

3 Don't Know   
 

8.44% 13 

 
answered 154 

skipped 123 

 

11. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 1 

1 I don't see why additional income such as 'crisis payments' should be disregarded as it is still in income into the household. 
Otherwise people on benefits receive a higher income yet those working stay on the same wage, seems very unfair 

 

 
answered 1 

skipped 276 

 
7. Part 6 - Disregarding emergency increases in national welfare benefits  
 

12. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

84.56% 126 

2 No   
 

4.70% 7 

3 Don't Know   
 

10.74% 16 

 
answered 149 

skipped 128 

 

Page 18



 
15 

13. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 5 

1 If their income is increased then this needs to be taken into account. It should not be down to the people working to have an 
increase in their taxes and NI to cover an increased income for people on benefits. This is simply making people on benefits 
more wealthy and actually makes applying for benefits more appealing than working 

2 How can this change ensure no adverse effect when it is at the council's discretion? 

3 Get people of benefits and tax credits by lowering the council tax so they can pay. 

4 increased payments should be considerd as income 

5 It's income and should be classed as such  
 

 
answered 5 

skipped 272 

 
8. Alternatives to changing the Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
 

14. Please use this space to make any other comments on the proposed scheme.  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 33 

1 Apart from the non-dependents discount which I commented on previously the rest of scheme and proposed changes I agree 
with 

2 The scheme could be simplified further by looking at UC awards and which elements are ignored, only housing costs would 
appear to be the only applicable element, all others should be considered but be an automatic entitlement to the scheme.  

3 As per usual the termanologly used in this consultation is not user friendly 

4 Any changes that reduces administration costs but still continues to support those on low-incomes is in my opinion 
welcomed.  

5 I am confused with the current scheme as being in band D and a new build our council tax support has constantly changed 
over the last year and has never been consistent  

6 Make it linked with UC as the constant changing for self employed people put huge strain on planning and paying bills. 
Emails come in before notification letters. Poor communication  

7 The proposed changes to the scheme appear to make sense. 

8 I believe that the welfare state should help more when people are in a position where they are struggling with their bills, Low 
earners the elderly and people on benefits require more assistance and its nice to see the council considering less fortunate 

9 Further clarity on individual circumstances would make it easier to make a clear decision one way or another. I don’t find the 
expression “winners and losers” very informative or helpful. 

10 any household in receipt of minimum wage should get some support 

11 Will help personally to people who are disabled  

12 It is sometimes very hard to understand the forms, so any help on making it easier would be very welcome. 

13 Think it would be a good idea to automatically back date working age claims for 3 Months like we currently do for Pension 
age claims as some people may have never claimed before and would not be aware to put in a claim straight away. 

14 The new system is fairer and less complicated  

15 Surely the aim of any local or National government is to encourage people to work (if they can) and surely if you need more 
money you work more. Why should those who pay their council tax support people who could work more but choose not to 
because of a loss in benefits/council tax reduction. By continually supporting people more and more there is no incentive for 
them to support themselves. 

16 This scheme clearly is more targeted and effective in supporting those most vulnerable. 

Page 19



 
16 

14. Please use this space to make any other comments on the proposed scheme.  

17 in general I agree with the proposed scheme however this is in danger of affect some people who make have special 
circumstances and will need to be assessed separately.  

18 Every support should reach out everyone according everyone's needs  

19 By giving people handouts and subsidies you take away their dignity.  

20 It is good to hear that changes would simplify the process of application And administration.  

21 I think there needs to be further investigations, as some people claiming benefits are clearly able to work. Especially if they 
are doing voluntary work as by doing this they could actually get a part time job and earn some of there own money  

22 These proposals seem to be fair, practical and well thought-through. 

23 Current council tax tariffs is unaffordable to most in the current economic crisis  

24 Simplifying the scheme benefits both claimants and the council: for claimants it is easier to understand and the payment 
processing time is reduced; for council it will reduce admin costs and reduce stressful work 

25 I agree with supporting lower incomes, however we need to encourage people to work and contribute I don't want the 
scheme abused - people need to work and contribute like all other working people 

26 I understand that lower income houses need support, however I don’t understand how some of these houses on universal 
credit can afford to put up Christmas lights in November and run them while houses with a decent income are struggling to 
pay the fuel bills etc. it seems there is so much help out there for ‘lower income’ households where half of them have 
undeclared earnings and actually better off than a family with two working parents earning and honest days living!  

27 I think earning a should come into it rather than blanket for all in x situation. We all should contribute something as it pus for 
important services  

28 Should be changed and supported more people doesn't mean if someone is working more then 16 hours can pay and live on 
that kind of money,  

29 Benefits should be for those who have hit hard times. Too many people use benefits as a way of life. More people need to be 
working, benefits are supposed to be a short fix. Too many single parent familes. 

30 You should go ahead. It sounds very sensible. 

31 Increase support for working households and lone parents. Up the earnings threshold for council tax support. 

32 I understand that the scheme needs to be overhauled and made simpler for people to access but that is the job of the 
ridiculously high paid staff at the council. If their wages were capped then it would be more money to spend on services 
needed in this county. 

33 Please get a 'plain English' version next time! 
Much of the language here is Council Speak. 

 

 
answered 33 

skipped 244 

 

15. Please use the space below if you would like the Council to consider any other options (please 
state).  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 19 

1 It would be helpful if it could be calculated for your take home pay. Often us who pay into a pension get no help.  
Can this be took into consideration  

2 Real Time sharing of data between council and dwp so eligible claimants get an automatic application processed, avoiding 
the need to make separate application assuming they are made aware of the need to do this at the time they apply for UC 
etc 

3 I would like to see the backdating rules for working age claims brought in line with the same backdating rules as pensioners. 
Many people that have always worked are not always aware of the Council Tax Scheme, by the time they make a claim for 
Council Tax Support they are often late and lose benefit through no fault of their own, especially when it takes the DWP at 
least 6 weeks to process a new claim for Universal Credit. This will help Council Tax payers at a difficult time when they are 
learning to adjust to being out of work, and will help the collection rate of Council Tax. 

4 I agree with the standard rate for working people as it is confusing on the current scheme.  

Page 20



 
17 

15. Please use the space below if you would like the Council to consider any other options (please 
state).  

5 Check the banding of the property. Some are grossly out of line. I have a 4 bed end of terrace, no drive or garage and I’m on  
band E. The house I was trying to buy before this one was a five bed end of terrace with garage and was a B. Both in 
Faversham.  

6 The situation I am in is that I am unable to work due to caring for my 89 year old mother who is bed bound and unable to 
complete any basic tasks herself. My sister and I had to give up work at the beginning of the pandemic due to risks of 
transmission to our vulnerable mother, and since this time she has become for more dependant and needs 24 hour care. 
This is spilt between my sister and I, undertaking a 24hr on/24hr on system. We are both therefore in receipt of Universal 
Credit as unable to go out to work, but only I am in receipt of carers allowance as it can only be awarded to one carer, 
despite the need for a minimum of two. 
This means that our total house income is pensions for my mother and UC for my sister and I.  
I sincerely hope that the proposed changes take this into account and we do not lose any of the discount in Council Tax that 
we currently qualify for, and no increased payment is required. 

7 It would be nice if the council could reduce the council tax a little more for the elderly and people on benefits, particularly the 
ones who still fall foul of having illnesses but don't qualify for benefits such as PIP, but qualify for Limited capability for work 
and work-related activity 

8 minimum wage does not allow you to live without struggling so you should still get some housing benefit 

9 I hope these changes do not penalise those who work to help pay benefits to those who do not work 

10 - Lower the council tax, build accommodation for the elderly and the disabled. Do not give preference to single people with a 
child. Give people their dignity back. Build more affordable houses. 

11 Not enough allowance is given to disabled people or their careers, this needs to be addressed as some careers only receive 
the careers allowance and nothing else 

12 Reduce the tariff as a palliative  

13 The council should help more with food parcels for the vunarble as many times as they need  

14 Reduction if you have a disabled child 

15 If all household members are out of work, what will Swale do to encourage them back to work. We do not want those who 
work and don't get any support to have to pay for others, it is not fair 

16 Clamping down on benefit frauds when reported instead of ignoring them!  

17 Remove council tax reductions and make it fairer for all. Work the budget, define the cost per house and then charge it. IF a 
house has 4 people then a 25% for each is due. If I have single person then 100% is payable. The current model is 
discriminatory to those working in a family unit. 

18 Eligibility for council tax support outside of vulnerable groups could be provided only if someone has resided in Swale for a 
significant period of time  

19 I do not believe people should be exempt from paying council tax, a reduction yes but to contribute nothing is wrong. 
 

 
answered 19 

skipped 258 

 

16. If you have any further comments or questions to make regarding the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme that you haven't had opportunity to raise elsewhere, please use the space below.  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 13 

1 This test is a little wordy and may not be able to be understood by everyone 

2 Use words with meanings that the ordinary person can understand. 
If you want to keep your writing ' legal ' then add a passage at the end explaing its meaning 

3 Sort out your communication don't email a bill before the letter as to why changes to payments. It pus huge metal health 
stress on people  

4 Pleas see above. 

5 Keep u the good work 

6 So many other things the council should do than giving away money and turning people into dependencies of the state. 

Page 21



 
18 

16. If you have any further comments or questions to make regarding the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme that you haven't had opportunity to raise elsewhere, please use the space below.  

7 This document is worded, that the reader knows all about the benefits system. I have no clue. A simple statement as to how 
it affects single working applicants would of been helpful.  

8 Not applicable  

9 Another stealth rise thanks 

10 It needs to be fair. Too many working families do not get any help at all and they cannot expect those not working to not 
contribute at all 

11 By all means change the scheme, but be more vigilant of who the reduction is going to and whether they actually deserve 
it….and not add the cost to honest people making sure they pay their bills regardless  

12 It should be changed this as I am lone parent of two and do not qualify for reduce my council tak support as I earn to much 
but my wages does not cover everything, it should be supported people who work as well  

13 It would have given me more confidence if the opening comments on consultation responses had not given the closing date 
as Thursday 27 November 2022!!!!!! 

 

 
answered 13 

skipped 264 

 
9. About You  
 

17. Are you completing this form on behalf of an organisation or group?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

2.82% 4 

2 No   
 

97.18% 138 

 
answered 142 

skipped 135 

 

If yes, please tell us the name of the organisation/group and add any other comments you wish to 
make.   

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 2 

1 Optivo  

2 Optivo  
 

 
answered 2 

skipped 275 

 
10. Questions for Individuals  
 

18. Do you live in the Swale Borough Council area?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

100.00% 135 

Page 22



 
19 

18. Do you live in the Swale Borough Council area?  

2 No  0.00% 0 

 
answered 135 

skipped 142 

 

19. Are you currently receiving Council Tax Reduction?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

50.74% 69 

2 No   
 

49.26% 67 

 
answered 136 

skipped 141 

 

20. Are you or your partner in work or self-employed?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

54.89% 73 

2 No   
 

45.11% 60 

 
answered 133 

skipped 144 

 

21. Are you liable to pay Council Tax?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

94.85% 129 

2 No   
 

5.15% 7 

 
answered 136 

skipped 141 

 

22. Are you currently serving in the Armed Forces?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes  0.00% 0 

2 No   
 

100.00% 134 

 
answered 134 

skipped 143 

 Page 23



 
20 

23. What is your gender?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Male   
 

36.03% 49 

2 Female   
 

61.03% 83 

3 Non-Binary  0.00% 0 

4 Prefer not to say   
 

2.94% 4 

 
answered 136 

skipped 141 

 

24. What is your age?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 18-24  0.00% 0 

2 25-34   
 

9.56% 13 

3 35-44   
 

30.15% 41 

4 45-54   
 

18.38% 25 

5 55-64   
 

27.21% 37 

6 65-74   
 

9.56% 13 

7 75-84   
 

1.47% 2 

8 85+  0.00% 0 

9 Prefer not to say   
 

3.68% 5 

 
answered 136 

skipped 141 

 

25. Disability: Are your day to day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which 
has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

28.57% 38 

2 No   
 

66.92% 89 

3 Don't know   
 

0.75% 1 

4 Prefer not to say   
 

3.76% 5 

 
answered 133 

skipped 144 

 

26. Ethnic Origin: What is your ethnic group?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total Page 24



 
21 

26. Ethnic Origin: What is your ethnic group?  

1 Prefer not to say   
 

8.82% 12 

2 White British   
 

83.82% 114 

3 White Irish  0.00% 0 

4 White Gypsy or Irish Traveller  0.00% 0 

5 Any other White background   
 

5.88% 8 

6 
Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups - 
White & Black African 

 0.00% 0 

7 
Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups - 
White & Black Caribbean 

 0.00% 0 

8 
Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups - 
White & Asian 

 0.00% 0 

9 
Any other multi mixed 
background 

 0.00% 0 

10 Asian or Asian British Pakistani  0.00% 0 

11 Asian or Asian British Indian  0.00% 0 

12 
Asian or Asian British 
Bangladeshi 

 0.00% 0 

13 Asian or Asian British Chinese  0.00% 0 

14 Any other Asian background  0.00% 0 

15 Black African   
 

0.74% 1 

16 British Caribbean  0.00% 0 

17 Black British   
 

0.74% 1 

18 Any other Black background  0.00% 0 

 
answered 136 

skipped 141 

 

27. Other ethnic group?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 2 

1 White USA 

2 Why is White Irish identified as a separate group to White British? 
 

 
answered 2 

skipped 275 

 
  

Page 25



 
22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix II [Equality Impact Assessment] 
  

Page 26



 
23 

 

Community Impact Assessment 

A Community Impact Assessment (CIA) is a document that summarises how the council has had 
due regard to the public sector equality duty (Equality Act 2010) in decision-making.  
When to assess 
A CIA should be carried out when you are changing, removing or introducing a new service, policy 
or function.  The assessment should be proportionate; a major financial decision will need to be 
assessed more closely than a minor policy change. 
Public sector equality duty 
The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on the council, when exercising public functions, to have due 
regard to the need to: 

1) Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

and persons who do not share it; 

3) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

persons who do not share it.   

These are known as the three aims of the general equality duty.  
Protected characteristics 
The Equality Act 2010 sets out nine protected characteristics that apply to the equality duty: 

• Age 

• Disability 

• Gender reassignment 

• Marriage and civil partnership* 

• Pregnancy and maternity 

• Race 

• Religion or belief 

• Sex 

• Sexual orientation 

*For marriage and civil partnership, only the first aim of the duty applies in relation to employment. 

 

We also ask you to consider other socially excluded groups, which could include people who 
are geographically isolated from services, with low literacy skills or living in poverty or low incomes; 
this may impact on aspirations, health or other areas of their life which are not protected by the 
Equality Act, but should be considered when delivering services. 

Due regard 
To ‘have due regard’ means that in making decisions and in its other day-to-day activities the council 
must consciously consider the need to do the things set out in the general equality duty: eliminate 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.  
How much regard is ‘due’ will depend on the circumstances and in particular on the relevance of the 
aims in the general equality duty to the decision or function in question. The greater the relevance 
and potential impact, the higher the regard required by the duty. The three aims of the duty may be 
more relevant to some functions than others; or they may be more relevant to some protected 
characteristics than others.  
 
Collecting and using equality information 
The Equalities and Human Rights Commissions (EHRC) states that ‘Having due regard to the 
aims of the general equality duty requires public authorities to have an adequate evidence base 
for their decision making’.  We need to make sure that we understand the potential impact of 

Page 27



 
2 

decisions on people with different protected characteristics.  This will help us to reduce or remove 
unhelpful impacts.  We need to consider this information before and as decisions are being made. 
There are a number of publications and websites that may be useful in understanding the profile of 
users of a service, or those who may be affected. 

• The Office for National Statistics Neighbourhoods website 
http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk  

• Swale in 2011 http://issuu.com/swale-council/docs/key_data_for_swale  

• Kent County Council Research and Intelligence Unit 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/your_council/kent_facts_and_figures.aspx 

• Health and Social Care maps http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/swale/  
 
At this stage you may find that you need further information and will need to undertake engagement 
or consultation.  Identify the gaps in your knowledge and take steps to fill these.   
Case law principles 
A number of principles have been established by the courts in relation to the equality duty and due 
regard: 

• Decision-makers in public authorities must be aware of their duty to have ‘due regard’ to the 

equality duty 

• Due regard is fulfilled before and at the time a particular policy is under consideration as well as 

at the time a decision is taken. Due regard involves a conscious approach and state of mind.  

• A public authority cannot satisfy the duty by justifying a decision after it has been taken.  

• The duty must be exercised in substance, with rigour and with an open mind in such a way that 

it influences the final decision.  

• The duty is a non-delegable one. The duty will always remain the responsibility of the public 

authority. 

• The duty is a continuing one. 

• It is good practice for those exercising public functions to keep an accurate record showing that 

they have actually considered the general duty and pondered relevant questions. Proper record 

keeping encourages transparency and will discipline those carrying out the relevant function to 

undertake the duty conscientiously.  

• The general equality duty is not a duty to achieve a result, it is a duty to have due regard to the 

need achieve the aims of the duty. 

• A public authority will need to consider whether it has sufficient information to assess the effects 

of the policy, or the way a function is being carried out, on the aims set out in the general equality 

duty.  

• A public authority cannot avoid complying with the duty by claiming that it does not have 

enough resources to do so.  

 
Examples of case law can be found here EHRC relevant case law.  They include examples of why 
assessing the impact before the decision is made is so important and case law around the need 
to have due regard to the duty 
 
  

Page 28

http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk/
http://issuu.com/swale-council/docs/key_data_for_swale
http://www.kent.gov.uk/your_council/kent_facts_and_figures.aspx
http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/swale/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/relevant-case-law/


 
1 

 

Lead officer: Zoe Kent 

Decision maker: Council 

People involved: Zoe Kent 

Decision: 

• Policy, project, service, 
contract 

• Review, change, new, 
stop 

• This is a localised scheme that the Borough is required to put 
in place to give financial assistance towards Council Tax to 
those residents on a low income. 

• The Council is  required to review this scheme each year and 
to either maintain or replace the scheme before 11 March of 
the any financial year. 

Date of decision: 

The date when the final 
decision is made. The CIA 
must be complete before this 
point and inform the final 
decision.   

18 January 2023 

Summary of the decision: 

• Aims and objectives 

• Key actions 

• Expected outcomes 

• Who will be affected and 
how? 

• How many people will be 
affected? 

What are the aims and objectives? 

1. To provide support to low income working age households in 
respect of their Council Tax  

2. In the case of pension age applicants, the scheme provides 
support in line with the Governments Prescribed 
Requirements as laid down by the Council Tax Reduction 
Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 
2012 as amended. 

What are the key actions? 

• Providing a scheme that supports those claimants on a low 
income 

• Putting into place a scheme that does place an onerous 
financial burden on the authority which could put other 
services provided by the Borough at risk. 

• Continuing to design and deliver services to meet the needs 
of vulnerable customers 

• Consider user feedback, engagement and consultation when 
designing the scheme 

What are the expected outcomes? 

To put in place a scheme that balances the needs of low income 
applicants for Council Tax Reduction against the budget 
requirements of the Borough. 

Who will be affected? 

Working age residents who are on a low income who apply for  
help towards their Council Tax. This covers all areas of the 
Borough but particularly those who live in deprived areas. 

How many people will be affected? 

6,063 working age claimants will be affected by the changes to 
the scheme (9.21% of all Council Tax account holders). 

Page 29



 
2 

Information and research: 

• Outline the information 
and research that has 
informed the decision. 

• Include sources and key 
findings. 

• Include information on 
how the decision will affect 
people with different 
protected characteristics. 

The Council is required to review its Council Tax Reduction 
scheme for working age each year. The Council is keen to 
consider altering the current scheme for several reasons: 
  

• The cost of administering the scheme is increasing. This is 
primarily due to inbuilt complexities in the current scheme – 
for example every time an applicant’s income changes, their 
case must be reassessed, and their award must be reprofiled. 

 

• Universal Credit (UC) is undoubtedly a contributing factor to 
this, especially for claimants who are in employment. 
Applicant’s’ UC is recalculated every month which can 
generate new files for the council to process. For applicants 
receiving fluctuating wages, this means they receive a 
revised award every month and, therefore, a revised council 
tax bill, which is costly to administer and deliver.  

 

• This reprofiling of payments also creates a high level of 
uncertainty for customers. Payments made by customers can 
be delayed because of the requirement to give 14 days’ 
notice, meaning customers do not have the opportunity to 
apportion their remaining council tax payments over as many 
instalments. On average 40% of UC claimants have between 
eight and twelve changes in entitlement each year. These 
changes result in amendments to council tax bills, the re-
calculation of instalments, delays, and resetting of recovery 
arrangements. 

 

• Universal Credit claimants often fail to claim Council Tax 
Reduction because of the belief that they have claimed it as 
part of the UC process, leading to a loss of financial support 
to those most in need.  

 
 

• The administration of the current scheme is complex, with 
staff having to request significant amounts of information from 
applicants. This means the timescales for processing 
applications is lengthy, mainly due to the complexity and 
evidence required to support the applications. A simplified 
scheme will allow the possibilities of awards being 
automated, resulting in a prompt award of support, so 
meeting customers’ need for real-time changes to their bill 
according to changes in their circumstances. 
 

• Above all, the cost of administering the scheme remains high, 
whilst customer satisfaction is reducing as customers are 
often confused by the nature and regularity of 
correspondence they receive and are less able to 
budget/manage their money based on fluctuating awards.  

 

In view these issues, it is proposed that an alternative approach 
be adopted from 1 April 2023. The approach has been to 
fundamentally redesign the scheme to address the issues with 
the current scheme, in particular: 
 

• The targeting of support available to the poorest households; 

• The customer experience; 

• The problems with the introduction of full-service Universal 
Credit; 

Page 30



 
3 

• The significant increase in administration costs due to the 
high level of changes received in respect of Universal Credit. 

Scope of the Community Impact Assessment 

The following identifies the potential impact on working age 
applicants and particularly groups of applicants. 

It should be noted that pension age applicants will continue to be 
protected under the rules prescribed by Central Government.  
These broadly replicate the council tax benefit scheme, which 
existed prior to 1 April 2013. 

In relation to equalities, Central Government has not been 
prescriptive in how it does this, but points to the Council’s existing 
responsibilities including the Child Poverty Act 2010, the 
Disabled Person Act 1986, and the Housing Act 1996, as well as 
the public sector equality duty in section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010. 

The Council has given consideration to the effects of the options 
on working age applicants, in particular, vulnerable groups. 

Disability 

Working age applicants with disabilities continue to make up a 
high proportion of the caseload at 11%.  Working age applicants 
with disabilities will in the main be treated more favourably than 
other working age applicants on the basis that: 

• Disability benefits will be disregarded in the assessment 
of weekly income; and 

• Further disregards will be granted in line with the amounts 
that would have been granted as premiums under the 
current scheme. 

Age 

The proposed changes affect working age households only and 
pension age applicants will continue to receive support under 
the Government’s prescribed scheme. 

Carers 

There is a higher proportion of applicants with a carer in the 
household, than the population generally overall (16%).  

Working age applicants with a carer in the household will be 
treated more favourably within the scheme, on the basis that both 
they and any disabled persons being carers for will have amounts 
disregarded from their income when calculating the level of 
Council Tax Reduction. 

Gender 

Females continue to make up a high proportion of the caseload 
at 63%.  Although, there is a difference between the average 
amounts females and males receive per week, this is due to 
factors relating to circumstances which directly affect the 
calculation of council tax reduction, and is not linked to a 
applicant’s sex directly. 

Page 31



 
4 

Ethnicity 

The proposed scheme makes no reference to ethnicity and 
treats all working age applicants equally. 

Other protected characteristics 

The proposed scheme makes no reference to the following 
protected characteristics and treats all working age applicants 
equally. 

▪ Religion or belief 

▪ Sexual orientation 

▪ Gender reassignment 

▪ Marital or civil partnership status 

▪ Pregnancy or maternity 

 

Actions to mitigate any identified impacts 

The Council has an Exceptional Hardship Scheme; the design of 
this allows any applicant to apply for additional support. It 
examines their overall circumstances, examining both income 
and expenditure with a view to determining whether exceptional 
hardship exists. 

Under the scheme, applicants will potentially be able to receive 
additional support up to the full level of their Council Tax. 

Consultation: 

▪ Has there been specific 
consultation on this 
decision? 

▪ What were the results of 
the consultation? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes, in line with statutory requirements. 

 

 

The results of the consultation can be found in: 

• Appendix I: Consultation with Major Preceptors; 

• Appendix II: Consultation with the public 

A full analysis is provided in the appendices.  

In the case of all consultees, there was an overwhelming 
agreement to change the scheme.  

In relation to the public consultation the following results were 
achieved: 

Question Yes 
% 

No 
% 

Don’t 
know 
% 

The introduction of an Income Grid 
scheme to replace the current scheme for 
all applicants of working age? 
 

74.18 7.69 18.13 

Changing the Non-Dependant 
deductions. 

69.14 11.11 19.75 

To replace the current earnings 
disregards and replace them with a 
standard £25 per week disregard 
irrespective of the number of hours 
worked 

73.72 8.33 17.95 

Page 32



 
5 

 

 

 

 

 

▪ Did the consultation 
analysis reveal any 
difference in views across 
the protected 
characteristics? 

▪ Can any conclusions be 
drawn from the analysis 
on how the decision will 
affect people with different 
protected characteristics? 

To provide additional income disregards 
for the disabled and carers 
 

88.96 4.55 6.49 

The scheme will disregard certain crisis 
payments paid to taxpayers (Local 
Welfare Provision) 
 

90.26 1.30 8.44 

 

Those with a protected characteristic continue to be protected 
under the scheme.  

 

 

The scheme will continue to protect working age applicants who 
are disabled, have disabled partners or children or who are 
carers.  

Other protected characteristics such as: 

▪ Religion or belief; 

▪ Sexual orientation; 

▪ Gender reassignment; 

▪ Marital or civil partnership status; or 

▪ Pregnancy or maternity 

Are not affected by the changes or the scheme in general. 

 
 
 

Is the decision relevant to the aims of the equality duty? 

Guidance on the aims can be found in the EHRC’s PSED Technical Guidance. 

Aim Yes/No 

1) Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation Yes 

2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

Yes 

3) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 

No 

 

Assess the relevance of the decision to people with different protected characteristics and 
assess the impact of the decision on people with different protected characteristics. 

When assessing relevance and impact, make it clear who the assessment applies to within the 
protected characteristic category. For example, a decision may have high relevance for young 
people but low relevance for older people; it may have a positive impact on women but a neutral 
impact on men.   

Characteristic 

Relevance to decision 

High/Medium/Low/None 

Impact of decision 

Positive/Negative/Neutral 

Age Medium Neutral 

Disability Medium Neutral 

Gender reassignment None Neutral 

Page 33

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_public_sector_equality_duty_england.pdf


 
6 

Marriage and civil partnership None Neutral 

Pregnancy and maternity None Neutral 

Race None Neutral 

Religion or belief None Neutral 

Sex None Neutral 

Sexual orientation None Neutral 

Other socially excluded 
groups1 

Low Negative 

 

Conclusion: 

• Consider how due regard 
has been had to the 
equality duty, from start to 
finish. 

• There should be no 
unlawful discrimination 
arising from the decision 
(see PSED Technical 
Guidance). 

Advise on the overall equality 
implications that should be 
taken into account in the final 
decision, considering 
relevance and impact. 

Summarise this conclusion in the body of your report 

We have considered how all groups with protected 
characteristics will be affected by the scheme.  As part of our 
consultation, we asked responders their gender, age ethnicity, 
whether they considered themselves disabled and whether they 
claimed Council Tax Reduction. 

A breakdown of how they responded to the options is available 
in Appendix II 

As the Council continues to provide the same maximum level of 
support, notwithstanding the change in scheme design, the 
adverse impact on individuals is relatively small  

This position is clearly supported by a majority of consultation 
responses, including those from current Council Tax Reduction 
recipients. 

 
Timing 

• Having ‘due regard’ is a state of mind.  It should be considered at the inception of any decision. 

• Due regard should be considered throughout the development of the decision.  Notes should 

be taken on how due regard to the equality duty has been considered through research, 

meetings, project teams, committees and consultations. 

• The completion of the CIA is a way of effectively summarising the due regard shown to the 

equality duty throughout the development of the decision.  The completed CIA must inform the 

final decision-making process.  The decision-maker must be aware of the duty and the 

completed CIA. 

Full technical guidance on the public sector equality duty can be found at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_publi
c_sector_equality_duty_england.pdf 
This Community Impact Assessment should be attached to any committee or SMT report 
relating to the decision.  This CIA should be sent to the Website Officer (Lindsay Oldfield) 
once completed, so that it can be published on the website. 
 

 
1 Other socially excluded groups could include those with literacy issues, people living in poverty or on low 
incomes or people who are geographically isolated from services Page 34

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_public_sector_equality_duty_england.pdf
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_public_sector_equality_duty_england.pdf
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_public_sector_equality_duty_england.pdf
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_public_sector_equality_duty_england.pdf


 Page 7 of 31 

Action Plan 

Issue Action 
Due 
date 

Lead 
Officer 

Manager Cabinet 
Member 

Review of 
new scheme 

 

The Council 
will continue to 
review the 
scheme 
throughout 
2023/24 

2023/24 Zoe Kent Lisa 
Fillery 

Cllr. 
Truelove 

 
Actions in this action plan will be reported to the CIA group once a quarter, so 
updates will be required quarterly. 
 

 
 
   

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 Page 1 of 6 

Policy and Resources Meeting   

Meeting Date 14 December 2022 

Report Title 34 Hour week  

EMT Lead Lisa Fillery – Director of Resources 

Head of Service Lisa Fillery – Director of Resources 

Lead Officer Lisa Fillery – Director of Resources 

Classification Open 

Recommendations 1.4  That Policy & Resources approve a formal staff 
consultation on the introduction of a 34 hour working 
week  from 1 April 2023 if the 2023/24 budget proposal 
is agreed at Full Council in February 2023. 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The draft budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2023/24 – 

2026/27 includes the proposal to amend the working week from 37 hours to 34 
hours. The council is currently facing a significant budget gap due to 
hyperinflation rates, increased homelessness costs and the reprovision of the 
waste and street cleansing service. The proposal to reduce the working hours has 
been made based on the results of a staff survey as an alternative to making an 
annual pay award which will further increase the budget gap. 

 

2 Background 
 
2.1 We recognise that our staff are our most important resource at the heart of the 

services we provide. We currently have around 260 full time equivalent posts and  
around 300 actual members of staff. Our pay bill is our most significant area of 
direct spend and stands at £14.4m including pension and national insurance 
contributions. 

 
2.2 On Friday 28 October, staff on Swale payroll were sent a survey to ask their 

views on different ideas relating to staff pay and potential savings. The survey 
was linked to work accounts so people could only respond once, but no names 
were recorded to make sure people could respond honestly without risk to 
anonymity. The survey closed at 5pm on Wednesday, 9 November, with 164 
responses submitted out of a total of 296 staff on the payroll (55.4%).  
 

2.3 The two main questions asked were: 
 

1. Please rank the below options in order with your preferred option at the top 

and least preferred at the bottom. (Options displayed randomly for each 

user) 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



 Page 2 of 6 

• No annual pay increase for 2023/24, reducing the working week to 34 

hours with no reduction in pay (equivalent to an 8% pay increase per 

hour), closing the office at 13:30 on Friday and making the closure 

between Christmas and New Year permanent.  

• 2% pay increase for 2023/24, then permanent 4 day working week 

from 2024/25, with pay then being reviewed annually as normal.  

• 2% pay increase with the £270,000 cost needing to be found from 

other savings  

• 4% pay increase with the £540,000 cost needing to be found from 

other savings  

• 5% pay increase with the £675,000 cost needing to be found from 

other savings 

 
2. Which of the following options for pay increases would you be in favour of? 

 

• All staff 

• Grade 7 and under only 

• Grade 9 and under only 

• Grade 11 and under only – wouldn’t apply to heads of service, 

directors or chief executive 

• Grade 12 and under only – wouldn’t apply to directors or chief 

executive 

• All staff except chief executive 

 
2.4 The results were as follows; 

 

Chart 1 – Staff survey question 1 (Ranking options) 

 

43.3%

38.4%

9.1%

6.7%

2.4%

35.4%

40.9%

7.3%

7.9%

8.5%

5.5%

6.1%

12.8%

63.4%

12.2%

4.3%

7.9%

8.5%

7.3%

72.0%

11.6%

6.7%

62.2%

14.6%

4.9%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

34 hour
week

4 day
week

5% pay
rise

2% pay
rise

4% pay
rise

Preferences

1st choice

2nd choice

3rd choice

4th choice

5th choice

Page 38



 Page 3 of 6 

Chart 2 – Staff survey question 2 (Who gets a pay increase?) 

 

 

 

2.5 As can be seen from the ranking of options (question 1) the 34-hour week with 
no pay award was the most popular first choice (43.3%). At the current time 
therefore, the draft budget does not assume any inflationary pay award, the only 
increases currently forecast are due to the Real Living Wage which is now 
£10.90 per hour (outside of London) and any annual increments. It should be 
noted that this does not constitute the final pay agreement for next year and that 
the normal negotiations will need to be held with the Union prior to any formal 
final pay proposal coming through separately to Full Council. 
 
 

2.6 The budget proposals are due to come into affect on 1 April 2023 if they are 
agreed and so to enable the effective roll out of the change to working hours the 
following timetable is proposed to run concurrently with the budget consultation 
process: 
 

Action Date 

  

Report to Policy and Resources Committee  December 2022 
 

Formal consultation document and EIA to be written 
Q&A document to be produced 
 

December 2022 

Formal consultation document issued to TU 
 

December 
2022/January 2023 

TU responses January 2023 

33.5

55.5

49.4

32.3

17.1

18.3

66.5

44.5

50.6

67.7

82.9

81.7

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

All staff

Grade 7 and under only

Grade 9 and under only

Grade 11 and under only

Grade 12 and under only

All staff except chief executive

Pay increase options

In favour Against

Page 39



 Page 4 of 6 

Formal consultation document issued to staff – 
briefings to be offered 
 

January 2023 

30 day deadline for consultation (may need to extend 
depending on responses) 
 

February 2023 

Changes to iTrent to reflect new pay elements 
Changes to policies 
Changes to terms & condition letter (if not applying a 
trial period) 

January – March 
2023 

Consultation comments responded to by CEO and 
presented to Committee (consider any changes in 
direction that may require further consultation with 
TU/staff) 

Early March 2023 

Consultation responses shared with staff 
 

February/March 
2023 

Implement new working hours 
 

1st April 2023 

 
2.7 Consultation with specific teams will be required to understand the implications of 

the proposal and to ensure that mitigation is considered where there is an 
unacceptable impact on workloads and/or statutory deadlines cannot be 
delivered. 

2.8 Exploring new ways of working is a concept that is being considered across 
organisations, the benefits that have been seen as a result include: 
 

• Improved quality of work output 

• More motivated employees 

• Improved productivity 

• Better retention  

• Improved recruitment 

• No loss of performance 

• Improved work life balance 

• Reduction in sickness rates 
 
 

2.9 Whilst the survey results indicated that staff are most willing to explore the 
change in working pattern there are disadvantages that also need to be 
considered and measures taken to minimise those where possible. 
 

• Employees may work the same hours – there may be jobs that are not be suited 
to reduced hours and staff may find they are still working the same number of 
hours as they were previously.  
 

• Costs in overtime – there may be some jobs that are unable to fulfil all the work 
demands during a shorter week.  This could lead to additional costs of overtime 
for staff if there is a requirement to meet all demands especially if it impacts on 
customer satisfaction. 

Page 40



 Page 5 of 6 

 

• Shared services – for shared service staff that are not employed by Swale 
Council may find they need to cover longer days to meet the business 
requirements for the council.  This could impact on shared service staff working 
additional hours or changing working patterns which could impact on the delivery 
to other MKS authorities.   

 
 

3 Proposals 
 
3.1 Policy & Resources committee is requested to approve that a staff consultation 

process is progressed in line with the draft budget timeline, to enable the 
introduction of the 34 hour week if the budget proposal is agreed for the 2023/24 
budget. 

 
 

4 Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
4.1 There is currently no allowance within the draft budget for a staff pay award other 

than a provision for contractual increments and an increase to the real living wage 
to £10.90/hour. Based on the results of the staff survey members decided to 
include the proposal of a reduced working week as the range of pay award 
options would require further savings to be made from the budget. 

 

Increase Budget savings 
required 

2% £270,000 

4% £540,000 

5% £675,000 

7% £945,000 

 
4.2 The further option to consider a 4 day working week will be reviewed when the 

outcomes have been assessed for other councils that are currently trialling this 
change to working hours. 

 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 
5.1 Initial findings from the staff survey indicate that staff are willing to consider a 

change to working practices and this reports seeks approval to commence the 
formal consultation process with staff, to allow the timely introduction of the 
proposal if it is agreed as part of the budget process. 
 

5.2 At the time of writing the Chief Executive and the Head of HR are meeting with 
the Trade Union to discuss the pay claim that they have submitted which does not 
accept the 34 hour week proposal. 

 
 
 

Page 41



 Page 6 of 6 

 

6 Implications 
 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities will be reassessed in 
line with any agreed changes to staff working hours. This proposal 
will not impact on the councils ability to provide statutory and 
discretionary services.  

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

The financial implications of an alternative proposal to make a pay 
award is included in the body of the report.  

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

Council policy on staff consultation will be followed. The council is 
legally allowed to change working patterns in consultation with staff 

Crime and 
Disorder 

None identified 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

Closing Swale House on a Friday afternoon will make a positive 
impact on our energy usage. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Staff wellbeing will be considered as part of the consultation 
process. However it is felt this is an improvement to staff health 
and wellbeing as they will benefit from improved work life balance 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

None identified 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

None identified 

Equality and 
Diversity 

A full Equalities Impact Assessment will be undertaken, however 
there are not currently any equality and diversity implications 
identified as no member of staff will be financially disadvantaged 
by the change in hours, no member of staff will be asked to work 
longer hours (compress the hours) and annual leave entitlement 
will be not changed (34 hours = 1 fte)  

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

None identified 

 

7 Background Papers 
 
 Draft budget proposal to P&R 30 November 2022  

Page 42



 

1 

 

 

Policy and Resources Agenda Item:    

Meeting Date 14 December 2022 

Report Title Financial Management Report – Second Quarter Monitoring 
2022/23 

EMT Lead Lisa Fillery, Director of Resources 

Head of Service Duncan Ellis, Interim Head of Finance & Procurement 

Claire Stanbury, Head of Finance & Procurement 

Lead Officer Caroline Frampton, Principal Accountant 

Classification Open 

Recommendations 1. To note the projected revenue overspend of £920k. 

2. To note the capital expenditure of £3.766m against the 
Revised Budget as detailed in Table 2 and Appendix I. 

                

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary   

1.1 This report sets out the quarter 2 revenue and capital budget monitoring 
forecast for 2022/23.  The report is based on service activity for April – 
September 2022 and is collated from monitoring returns from budget 
managers. 

1.2 The purpose of the report is to forecast the estimated outturn position for 
2022/23 compared to the budget approved at Council in February 2022 and 
subsequently amended by virements, made under delegated authority during 
the year.   

1.3 The headline figures are: 

• revenue overspend on services of £920k – Table 1; 

• capital expenditure of £3.766m – Table 2 and Appendix I.   

  

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



 

2 

 

2. Background 

2.1 The Council operates a budget monitoring process at Head of Service level, 
with regular reports to the Policy and Resources Committee and the Strategic 
Management Team. 

3. Proposals 

Revenue Outturn 

     Table 1 - Variance by Service  
  

  

Service Manager 
Working 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 
2022/23 

Projected 
Variance 

    £'000 £'000 £'000 

Chief Executive L. Reed 247  244  (3) 

Policy, Governance & 
Customer Services 

D. Clifford 2,506  2,470  (36) 

Director of Regeneration E. Wiggins 172  173  1  

Director of Resources L. Fillery 133  132  (1) 

Housing & Community C. Hudson 3,756  5,153  1,397  

Planning F. Churchill 911  991  80  

Environment & Leisure 
Services 

M. Cassell 6,801  6,466  (335) 

Regeneration & Economic 
Development 

J. Johnson (118) 25  143  

Finance & Procurement L. Fillery 811  849  38  

Revenues & Benefits Z. Kent 303  232  (71) 

Environmental Health T. Beattie 609  553  (56) 

Information Technology C. Woodward 1,377  1,344  (33) 

Internal Audit Head of Internal Audit 194  178  (16) 

Human Resources B. Sandher 483  464  (19) 

Legal   C. Valmond 550  414  (136) 

Corporate Items   1,614  1,581  (33) 

NET REVENUE SERVICE 
EXPENDITURE  

  20,349  21,269  920  

Financed by:         

Revenue Support Grant    (119) (119) 0  

Lower Tier Services Grant   (192) (192) 0  

Services Grant   (296) (296) 0  

Business Rates   (9,072) (9,072) 0  

New Homes Bonus   (1,407) (1,407) 0  

Collection Fund Surplus   0  0  0  

Council Tax Requirement   (9,263) (9,263) 0  

TOTAL FINANCING   (20,349) (20,349) 0  

NET EXPENDITURE 

  0  920  920  (Contribution (to)/ from 
General Fund) 

 

Page 44



 

3 

 

3.1 The variances with brackets are underspends, i.e. income received was 
greater than the budget or the spend was less than budget; variances with no 
brackets are overspends, i.e. the income was less than the budget, or the 
spend was more than budget.  The significant variances from budget are 
explained below. 

3.2 Policy, Governance & Customer Services (£36k) projected underspend, a 
movement of (£10k) from quarter 1:  (£91k) underspend mainly Members’ 
Allowances and salaries, offset by a forecast overspend on the Sheerness 
Gateway with Kent County Council of £55k for proposed building works and 
reduced shared service costs with Maidstone Borough Council. 

3.3 Housing & Community Services £1.4m projected overspend – a movement of 
£607k from quarter 1:   

  

Movement 
from Qtr 1 

Variance  
to Qtr 2 

Variance 
£'000 

Projected 
Variance 

as at Qtr 2 
 
 

£’000 

Temporary Accommodation 807 1,598 

Licences – additional income (158) (158) 

Cultural & Economic (38) (38) 

Other (4) (5) 

Total 607 1,397 

3.4 The increase in temporary accommodation - the growth in landlord charges 
continues to be a concern, reflecting the current economic position. One 
landlord, who holds approximately 36% of the current accommodation 
occupied, has increased their charges in September. 

3.5 Planning £80k projected overspend - a movement of (£53k) from Quarter 1 to 
Quarter 2:  

 

Movement 
from Qtr 1 

Variance 
to Qtr 2 

Variance 
£'000 

Projected 
Variance 

as at Qtr 2 
 
 

£’000 

Conservation & Design 0 1 

Building Control 1 1 

Local Land Charges (including 
shared service) 

(20) 49 

Planning Income (Net) (10) (375) 

Staffing costs and running costs (11) 401 

Planning Shared Service (31) (31) 

Spatial Planning & Local Plan 18 34 

Total (53) 80 

Page 45



 

4 

 

3.6 Net additional income of (£375k) to date from planning fees. This includes 
(£150k) from the major application at Bobbing. Additional underspends from 
the shared services with Maidstone Borough Council have also been reported 
this quarter. £63k loss of income from Local Land Charges. 

3.7 Environment & Leisure (£335k) projected underspend - a movement of (£287k) 
from Quarter 1 to Quarter 2: 

  Movement 
from Qtr 1 

Variance to 
Qtr 2 

Variance 
£'000 

Projected 
Variance 

as at Qtr 2 
 
 

£’000 

Major Movements 

Environmental Services 
including refuse collection and 
street cleansing 

(219) 4 (£150k) saving on 
new bins; 
(£20k) additional 
income sale of new 
bins. 

Leisure & Technical Services  137 175 £120k overspend re 
Leisure centres; 
£19k overspend 
Bartons Point 
covered walkway; 
£16k 1st quarter 
projected Seafront 
savings removed. 

Parking Management (179) (548) (£123k) additional 
parking fees; 
(£66k) additional 
penalty charge 
notices; 
(£52k) net excess 
parking charges. 

Other (26) 34 (£34k) Service 
Delivery staff costs 
savings not 
previously declared. 

Total (287) (335)  

 

• Environmental Services - there is a projected overspend of £45k on 
refuse collection including £230k indexation compensation payable to 
contractor offset by savings on new bins. Projected overspend of £25k 
re Street Cleansing relating to increased indexation compensation 
payable to the contractor. Projected underspend of (£23k) re Public 
Conveniences, as new facilities are not yet in service; Projected savings 
of (£27k) re staff and agency costs. 

• Leisure & Technical Services - projected overspend of £53k re Parks & 
Open Spaces.   Projected overspend of £120k re leisure centres 
increase in utility costs. 

• Other - projected overspend of £75k re grounds maintenance contract. 
Projected savings of (£34k) re Service Delivery staff savings and 
apprentice vacancy. 

Page 46



 

5 

 

• Parking Management projected net additional income of (£548k) as 
detailed below: 

 

Projected Variance as at Qtr 2: £'000 

General car parks – additional fees income (382) 

Multi Storey – additional fees income  (80) 

Net Excess parking charges (91) 

Net Other 5 

Total (548) 

 

3.8 Regeneration and Economic Development projected overspend £143k  shows 
an improved position from quarter 1 of £174k. The overspend continues to 
originate mainly from energy bills, agency staff and reduced rental income at 
Bourne Place. The positive shift is substantially due to staff salary savings. 

3.9 Finance & Procurement projected overspend £38k, a nil movement from 
quarter 1. This is mainly additional consultancy advice and recruitment costs. 

3.10 Revenues & Benefits (£71k) projected underspend variance, a movement of 
(£71k) from quarter 1. At this stage it has not been assumed that the 
underspend will be moved to reserves.   

3.11 Shared Services (£260k) projected underspend, an increase of (£16k) from 
quarter 1. The Legal Services projected underspend of (£136k) is due to 
additional income from recharges to Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells.  There is 
a projected underspend on the service recharges from Maidstone Council for 
HR of (£16k) and IT of (£15k). There is a projected underspend of (£22k) for 
the Environmental Shared Service with Tunbridge Borough Council. 

3.12 Corporate Items projected underspend of (£33k), a movement of (£144k) from 
quarter 1.  This is mainly additional net external interest income partially offset 
by additional insurance costs as a result of higher property premiums directly 
related to increased building costs.  

Reserves 

3.13 As part of the budget build process a review of the use of reserves has been 
carried out and the details are included in the draft budget reported to Policy & 
Resources Committee on 30 November.  

Capital Expenditure  

3.14 This section of the report details actual capital expenditure to end of quarter 2 
and highlights any variations between the revised 2022/23 capital budget and 
the projected outturn. The revised budget includes the 2021/22 roll forwards as 
agreed by the Policy and Resources Committee 13 July 2022. 

3.15 Members to note that the revised capital budgets have been reviewed as part 
of the budget process and details are included in the draft budget reported to 
Policy & Resources Committee on 30 November. Some schemes have slipped 
to 2023/24 and 2024/25. In addition any new schemes funded from reserves 
and funds have been reported.  Appendix I provides further details. 

Page 47



 

6 

 

3.16 Actual expenditure is £3.766m which is 28% of the budget. A summary is set 
out in Table 2 below and further details are shown in Appendix I.  

Table 2 – Capital Expenditure to end of September 2022 

Capital Scheme 

 

2022/23 
Revised 
Budget 

2022/23 
Actual to end 
of September 

2022 

Projected 
Variance 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Total Housing & Community 
Services 

6,177 932 0 

Total Regeneration & Economic 
Development  

5,098 2,524 0 

Total Environment & Leisure 1,756 294 0 

Total ICT 218 16 0 

Total Capital Programme 13,249 3,766 0 

3.17 Housing and Community Services – Disabled Facilities Grant:  funding is from 
Central Government and is paid via Kent County Council.  The grant is part of 
the overall Better Care Fund which incorporates aspects of health, and the 
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) money which must be used on mandatory 
grants that the Council administers.  The money should be rolled over to the 
following year to continue funding grants approved within the year.  The spend 
is dependent on applications received, and due to Covid-19, owners not 
wanting work to proceed or builders unable to carry out work, the number and 
spend on grants has been impacted.  Additionally, once a grant is approved the 
applicant has 12 months to complete the work, therefore the DFG spend is a 
constant rolling process that crosses financial periods. 

3.18 There has been a delay to the planned expenditure to deliver affordable homes 
within the district, however the current assumptions are that this spend will now 
fall in future years and so there is no variance on the project at this stage. 

Funding of the 2022/23 Capital Programme   

3.19 The 2022/23 capital programme planned expenditure of £13.249m is to be  
funded as set out in Table 3 below.  

Page 48



 

7 

 

Table 3: Capital Programme Funding 

 2022/23 
Revised 
Budget 

 £’000 

Capital grants and other contributions  6,274 

Borrowing 3,123 

Earmarked reserves 1,928 

Capital receipts 1,781 

Revenue & Grant Funding  143 

Total Capital Funding 13,249 

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 None identified – this report is largely for information. 

5. Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 

5.1 Heads of Service and Strategic Management Team have been consulted in 
preparing this report. 

6. Implications 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Good financial management is key to supporting the 
Corporate Plan objectives. 

Financial, Resource 
and Property 

As detailed in the report. Budget holders will need to 
review the current forecast position to identify savings to 
address the forecast overspend. 

Legal, Statutory and 
Procurement 

The monitoring report is not a statutory requirement, but it 
is a requirement of the Council’s Financial Regulations. 

Crime and Disorder None identified at this stage. 

Environment and 
Climate/ Ecological 
Emergency 

The report identifies a wide range of expenditure headings 
which support the Council’s Climate and Emergency 
Action Plan. 

Health & Wellbeing None identified at this stage. 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and Vulnerable 
Adults 

None identified at this stage. 

Page 49



 

8 

 

Issue Implications 

Risk Management and 
Health and Safety 

The Council’s overall financial position is a key risk in the 
Council’s Corporate Risk Register. 

Equality and Diversity None identified at this stage. 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

None identified at this stage. 

7. Appendices 

7.1 The following documents are published with this report and form part of the 
report: 

• Appendix I: Capital Expenditure to end of September 2022/23  

8. Background Papers 

• Council Meeting Agenda and Minutes 23 February 2022 Item 12 

 

  

Page 50



Appendix I 
Capital Quarter 2 2022/23 

9 

Unrestricted Public Access 

 

  
2022/23 
Working 
Budget 

2022/23 
Actual to 

date 

2022/23 
Projected 
Variance 

Notes 

  £'000 £'000 £'000   

Housing & Community Services           

CCTV 0  0  0  This budget has moved to 2026/27 

Disabled Facilities Grant Mandatory/Discretionary 5,720  783  0  External Grant 

Housing Repair Grants Over 60 0  1  0  External Grant   

RHB2 Decent Home Loans Owner Occupier 0  7  0  Long Term Loans/ Grants   

Winter Warmth Grants 0  28  0  External Grant   

Local Housing Company 360  68  0  
Borrowing/ £22.833m of budget has been 

moved to 2023/24 onwards 

Land Regeneration/Improvement Works at Dolphin Barge 
Museum & Skatepark 

52  0  0  Special Project Fund 

Murston Old Church 45  45  0  Community Fund/ new bid 

Total Housing & Community Services 6,177  932  0    

      

Regeneration & Economic Development           

Central House – Lift Refurbishment 20  20  0  Building Maintenance Fund/ new bid 

Faversham Creek Basin Regeneration Project (Swing 
Bridge) 

0  0  0  This project of £200k has slipped to 2023/24 

Sittingbourne Town Centre 641  0  0  Borrowing 

High Streets   248  0  0  Town Centres, High Street Fund 

St Michael’s Church Boundary Wall, Sittingbourne 120  0  0  Town Centres, High Street Fund 

Queenborough & Rushenden Klondyke Land Improvement 0  970  0  External Grant   

Coronation Clock Tower Sheerness   144  83  0  
Improvement & Resilience Fund/ Town Centres, 

High Street Fund 

Redevelopment of Master's House, Sheerness 1,319  945  0  
Improvement & Resilience Fund/ Capital 

Receipts/ External Grant 

Swale House Refurbishment 1,955  507  0  Borrowing 

          

P
age 51



Appendix I 
Capital Quarter 2 2022/23 

10 

Unrestricted Public Access 

  
2022/23 
Working 
Budget 

2022/23 
Actual to 

date 

2022/23 
Projected 
Variance 

Notes 

  £'000 £'000 £'000   

          

UKSPF 14  0  0  External Grant/ new bid 

LUF 638  0  0  External Grant/ new bid 

Total Regeneration & Economic Development  5,099  2,525  0    

          

Environment & Leisure           

Barton's Point Coastal Park - replacement bridge 39  13  0  Capital Receipts 

Barton’s Point Drainage Project 70  0  0  Sheppey Improvement Fund - Reserves 

Beach Huts 0  0  0  This project of £60k has moved to 2023/24 

Changing Places Toilets – Swallows 54  0  0  S106 / Borrowing 

Coach Parking Sheerness 35  0  0  Reserves 

Faversham Recreation Ground 3  3  0  External Grant/on-going project 

Gunpowder Works Oare Faversham - new footbridge and 
connecting paths 

30  0  0  S106 

Kemsley Recreation Ground Play Improvement 17  17  0  Revenue & Grant Funding/New Scheme 

Leisure Centres Condition Surveys Improvements 294  0  0  Borrowing / External Grants 

Lynsted Churchyard Walls 0  0  0  This project of £120k has moved to 2023/24 

Milton Creek Access Road 75  0  0  Reserves 

Open Spaces Play Equipment  340  0  0  S106 

Open Spaces Village Hall Play Equipment 20  20  0  S106 

Open Spaces - Millfield Play Equipment - Faversham 155  155  0  S106 / Revenue & Grant Funding 

Play Improvement - Diligent Drive 16  16  0  Reserves / Special Projects Fund 

New Play Area – Iwade 0  0  0  This projected has completed 

          

      

     

P
age 52



Appendix I 
Capital Quarter 2 2022/23 

11 

Unrestricted Public Access 

  
2022/23 
Working 
Budget 

2022/23 
Actual to 

date 

2022/23 
Projected 
Variance 

Notes 

  £'000 £'000 £'000   

          

Play Improvements  197  0  0  
Capital Receipts / Special Projects Fund/ 

Reserves 

Play Area Manor Grove, Sittingbourne 65  65  0  Revenue & Grant Funding/New Scheme 

Sheerness Public Toilets 120  0  0  Sheppey Improvement Fund - Reserves 

Public Toilets (including Minster Leas, Queenborough All 
Tide Landing, Forum Sittingbourne, Milton Creek Country 
Park and Toilets & Shower Block Barton's Point) 

222  0  0  
Special Projects & Improvement / Resilience 

Fund 

Resurfacing Promenade, The Leas 0  0  0  This project has completed 

Resurfacing Shellness Road, Leysdown 4  4  0  Reserve/Revenue Funding 

Wheeled Bins 0  0  0  This project has moved to 2023/24 

Total Environment & Leisure 1,756  293  0    

          

Policy         

Council Chamber IT Equipment 0  0  0  
This project of £50k has been moved to 

2023/24  

Total Policy  0  0  0    

          

ICT         

ICT Infrastructure & Equipment Replacement 219  16  0  R & R Reserve 

Total ICT 219  16  0    

          

Total Capital Programme   13,251  3,766  0    

 
 

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Policy and Resources Committee Meeting  

Meeting Date 14 December 2022 

Report Title Performance Monitoring – 2022/23 half-year 

EMT Lead David Clifford, Head of Policy, Governance and Customer 
Services 

Lead Officer Tony Potter, Information and Business Improvement 
Manager 

Recommendations That Members note the Corporate Performance 
Management Report at Appendix I and the progress of 
Priority Projects at Appendix II (see §3) 

 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report presents the quarterly performance management report for the second 

quarter of 2022/2023 (July – Sept 2022) and the latest progress update to Priority 
Projects, attached as Appendix I & II 

 
 
2 Background 
 
2.1 Following discussions with both Informal Administration and the Policy and 

Resource committee, it has been agreed that performance reports will be presented 
at the mid-year point (end of Quarter 2) and year-end (end of Quarter 4). 
 

2.2 Appendix I details the performance report summarising performance for the first six 
months of the current financial year. 

 
2.3 Appendix II reports on the current progress of priority projects previously allocated 

to officers to undertake alongside their normal service responsibilities. 
 

2.4 Dependant on the resource availability, most projects have now been started and 
many are complete, as detailed at the end of the list. 
 

 
3 Proposal 
 
3.1 Members are asked to note the Corporate Performance Management Headlines 

Report for 2022/2023 as attached at Appendix I 
 

3.2 Members are asked to note the progress of Priority Projects as attached at 
Appendix II  
 

 
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



 
4 Appendices 
 
4.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 

report: 

• Appendix I: Corporate Performance Management Report: September 2022 and 
Quarter 2 / Year-to-date 2022-23 

• Appendix II: Member Priority Projects update, as at 31 October 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



Corporate Performance Management Report    Appendix I 
Period: September 2022 and Quarter 2 / Year-to-date 2022-23 
Lead Officer: Tony Potter 
 

Action: Note only 
 

1. Year to date performance summary:  
 

Combined result of 19 monthly and 13 quarterly indicators 

 
a. Quarterly indicators 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b. Monthly indicators 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Performance Status No. indicators Percentage 

Red 6 19% 

Amber 2 6% 

Green 24 75% 

16

10
5

11 11 11

5

32

21

26

21

16

21

10

16

9

5
5

11

11

5

16

11 11

16

11

74 74

84 84 84
79

84

63 63 63
68 68 68

0

20

40

60

80

100

Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22

%

Months

Red Amber Green Green Indicators last yr. Meta target

Page 57



2. Red Indicators this period 

 
3. Amber Indicators this period 

 
YTD 

Status 
This 

month 
Last 

month Ref Description YTD 
2022/23
target Variance 

   BV78b Speed of processing – 
changes of circumstances 
for HB/CTB claims 

9.3 
days 

9 days 3.5% of 
target 

   LI/CC/0
1 

Number of missed bins per 
annum 

1190 
bins 

1155 ytd 3.0% of 
target 

 
 
 
 
 
 

This 
month / 

qtr 

Last 
month

/ qtr Ref Description YTD 2022-23 target 

  BV8 Percentage of invoices paid on time 91% 97% 

Severe Staff Shortages within the Exchequer Team caused a drop in performance for Q1. Performance has been 
back on track in Q2. If performance continues on track, the year-end total will be 95%  
  LI/LS/LCC

01 
Percentage of all Local Land Searches 
completed in 5 working days 

24.9% 95% 

The Land Charges Team had been severely depleted since December and this has been exacerbated by 
recruitment issues.  Whilst it had not been possible to hit the 5-day target, the team have been achieving a 10-day 
target.  Performance is back on track for the first time this year. If the target is now achieved every month the 
year-end total will be 61%.  

  LI/HS/01 Number of long-term empty homes brought 
back into use 

0 40 ytd 

The post of Empty Property Officer is still vacant and the re-evaluation of the posts grade is currently in 
discussion. As soon as this is resolved we will advertise the vacancy again. Any complaints relating to empty 
properties are being dealt with as they arise, by our enforcement officers as part of their normal role.  

  BV109a Processing of planning apps: Major applications 
determined within 13 weeks 

84% 89% 

This indicator’s performance is severely impacted due to the small numbers of Major applications, with extensions 
of time not usually accepted when permission is going to be declined. Four applications out of 25 did not achieve 
the target. If the target is achieved for the rest of the year, then the year end result will be 85% 

  LI/IC/CSC
/004 

Percentage of calls to Customer Contact Centre 
answered in 20secs 

62.8% 75% 

The target of answering 75% of calls in 20 secs has remained challenging all year and not quite reached in 
September (68%) The latest contributing factors including firewall issues impacting the telephony platform, the 
impact of training a new starter & responding to service disruptions. If performance achieves target each month 
for the rest of the year, then the year-end total will be 68%.   

  LI/IA/005 Audit recommendations implemented 79.5% 95% 

A number of lower impact internal audit recommendations have been deferred due to other higher priority tasks. 
The recommendations are being reviewed corporately to bring performance on track.  

Page 58



4. Year to Date overview of KPI performance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

N.B. Where the monthly result differs to the cumulative year-to-date result, the monthly performance is indicated by either *R (Red) , *A (Amber) or *G (Green)  

P
age 59



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 60



Page 7 of 9  

Member Priority Projects Update As at: 31 October 2022 Appendix II 
 
 

Managed By Title Progress 

Charlotte Hudson Cost of Living Project 50% 

Charlotte Hudson Empty Homes 25% 

Charlotte Hudson Nightly Let Procurement 10% 

Charlotte Hudson Swale’s Affordable Housing Programme 35% 

Charlotte Hudson Community Housing Fund 50% 

Charlotte Hudson Implementation of Health and Wellbeing Improvement Plan 50% 

Charlotte Hudson Individual projects within Community Safety Plan 90% 

Charlotte Hudson Mill Skate Park – resolution of ongoing CCTV/lighting issues, clarification of boundaries 50% 

Charlotte Hudson Volunteer Event - currently being redefined 15% 

Charlotte Hudson Energy Programmes 45% 

Charlotte Hudson Healthy and Active Swale - YouTube channel development 80% 

David Clifford Livestreaming meetings / hybrid meetings 75% 

Flo Churchill Community Infrastructure Levy 35% 

Flo Churchill DM process Review 75% 

Flo Churchill Implementation of Periwinkle Mill Project 80% 

Flo Churchill Local Plan 75% 

Flo Churchill Sittingbourne High Street Conservation Area review and condition and compliance survey 30% 

Flo Churchill Conservation Area Review and assessment Programme 65% 

Flo Churchill Holiday Park Enforcement Options and Implementation 80% 

Flo Churchill Aviation Museum proposals for Eastchurch 90% 

Joanne Johnson Community Renewal Fund 85% 

Joanne Johnson Elimination of single use plastic 80% 

Joanne Johnson Faversham permanent town centre road closures (monitoring of consultants) & progress 

reports to cabinet, area committees, JTB 

35% 

Joanne Johnson Greening of the High Street and Improvements to courtyard area in Bell Road - 

Sittingbourne Town Centre 

40% 

Joanne Johnson Lobby Regional Skills Commissioner over future school provision 50% 

Joanne Johnson Masters House business space - market data and management 20% 

Joanne Johnson Masters House low carbon refurbishment 75% 

Joanne Johnson Redevelopment of Central Park Stadium 40% 

Joanne Johnson Secure improved vocational learning in Borough 50% 

Joanne Johnson Swale House business space market data and management 10% 

Joanne Johnson Wayfinding strategy and implementation - Faversham Town Centre 35% 

Joanne Johnson Borough-wide Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) 10% 

Joanne Johnson Great East Hall Shop 20% 

Joanne Johnson Improvements to St. Michael's Church Flint Wall - High Street Sittingbourne 35% 

Joanne Johnson Interreg Experience project - 4-year walking and cycling development 55% 

Joanne Johnson Swale House low carbon refurbishment 50% 

Joanne Johnson TS Hasarde, Faversham - sustainable re-use 40% 

Martyn Cassell Fuel and poverty advisor (officer monitoring) 70% 

Martyn Cassell Levelling Up bid - Leisure centre input 50% 

Martyn Cassell Multi-storey car park management 85% 

Martyn Cassell Replacement of Car park pay and display machines 55% 

Martyn Cassell Waste and Recycling / Street Cleansing review and new contract 70% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Bartons Point Toilet replacement and mains drainage 40% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Beach hut extension project 25% 

Page 61



Page 8 of 9  

Managed By Title Progress 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Closed Churchyards and War Memorials - urgent works and heritage improvements 60% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Eastchurch Cliffs - cliff erosion management and public engagement 50% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Lynsted Church wall collapse 55% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Playground Improvement Programme - multiple playground improvements 70% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Sheerness Beach Toilets 70% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Doubling Tree cover / Tree planting scheme and Other Planting 50% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Faversham Rec Heritage Lottery Fund activity phase 70% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Milton creek access road and car park 90% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

SBC Owned Street Lighting replacement project 34% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

SBC tree survey 10% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Stones Farm - countryside gap management 55% 

Martyn Cassell; 

Alister Andrews 

Food waste pilot - Marine Town 70% 

Martyn Cassell; 

Alister Andrews 

High Speed roads litter cleansing and laybys 60% 

Martyn Cassell; 

Janet Hill 

EV charging points in public car parks 50% 

Martyn Cassell Perry Wood management plan 55% 

Martyn Cassell; 

Janet Hill 

Car Club Faversham 95% 

Martyn Cassell; 

Janet Hill 

Days of Action - Climate Emergency 85% 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Milton Rec Tennis Courts - phase 1 and 2 70% 

Zoe Kent Policy in Practice & Xantura 55% 
 

COMPLETED PROJECTS 

 

Managed By 

Charlotte Hudson 

Charlotte Hudson 

Charlotte Hudson 

Charlotte Hudson 

Charlotte Hudson 

Charlotte Hudson 

David Clifford 

Flo Churchill 

Flo Churchill 

Joanne 

Johnson 

Joanne 

Johnson 

Joanne 

Johnson 

Title 

Walled Garden, The Mount, Faversham 

DEFRA Hardship Fund 

Next Steps Accommodation programme 

Reconnect 

Rough Sleeping Initiative 

Town Centre Radios 

Governance review - committee system 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) for Faversham Area 

Sittingbourne Town Centre SPD 

Revised Cycling and Walking Strategy 

Bench Refurbishment - High Street Sittingbourne 

Development of Visit Swale and Visit Faversham website content and functionality 

Forbes Road Underpass improvements - Faversham 

High Streets Task Force 

Page 62



Page 9 of 9  

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Page 63



Page 10 of 
9 

 

 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson 

Joanne Johnson; 

Kieren Mansfield 

Lisa Fillery 

Lisa Fillery; Larissa 

Reed 

Martyn Cassell 

Martyn Cassell 

Martyn Cassell 

Martyn Cassell 

Martyn Cassell 

Martyn Cassell 

Martyn Cassell 

Martyn Cassell 

Martyn Cassell 

Martyn Cassell 

Martyn Cassell 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Martyn Cassell; Jay 

Jenkins 

Levelling Up Fund Bid 

Replacement of uplighters around clocktower - Sheerness Town Centre 

Review & implementation of small Streetscape schemes - Faversham 

Sheerness Clock Tower - Structural assessment & Restoration 

Small public realm scheme around clock tower - Sheerness Town Centre 

Street clutter removal - Sheerness Town Centre 

Street furniture painting – Sittingbourne Town Centre 

VEF action plan 

Creation of new seating area (between Nos 80 - 82) - High Street Sittingbourne 

Faversham Hop Festival 

Street Markets and specialist markets 

Swale Heritage Asset liaison with Community Groups 

Q&R Regeneration - HIF Scheme 

Anti-idling - publicity 

Clean Air Zone 

Playground repainting x 12 

Grounds Maintenance contract retender 

Motorhome parking at Shellness and Shingle Bank 

Neptune Terrace access issues 

Oak Road Bus gate 

The Glen - benches 

Queenborough Castle playground path 

Bartons Point covered walkway 

Lifeguard Recruitment and Contract management /retender 

Review options for cameras for litter being dropped from vehicles 

Neat's Court Pathway works 

Meads and Rose Hill Woodland Management plan 

Flowers in Bloom - Great Easthall 

 

Managed By Title Progress 

Page 64



 Page 1 of 3 

Policy and Resources Committee  

Meeting Date 14 December 2022 

Report Title Coronation of King Charles III 

EMT Lead Larissa Reed – Chief Executive 

Head of Service Charlotte Hudson  

Lead Officer Larissa Reed – Chief Executive 

Classification Open 

Recommendations 1. That Policy and Resources Committee agree the formation of a 
cross party working group with one member representing each 
political party, chaired by the Mayor to receive reports and 
discuss the detail of the Coronation. 

2. That Policy and Resources Committee agree that the 
Communities Committee receive a further report when more 
information is known 

 
1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 

1.1 This report sets out the current information known about the Coronation of King 
Charles III and suggests a way forward to discuss the Coronation as more 
information becomes available. 

 
2 Background 
 
2.1 Buckingham Palace have announced that the Coronation of King Charles 

III will take place on Saturday 6 May at Westminster Abbey. The 
Coronation is the first since Queen Elizabeth was crowned in June 1953. 
 

2.2 On 6 November 2022, The Prime Minister decided to proclaim an 
additional bank holiday to mark the Coronation. The bank holiday will fall 
on Monday 8 May 2023, following the Coronation on Saturday 6 May 
2023. 
 

2.3 The Government has said that in line with the bank holiday to mark Her 
Majesty Queen Elizabeth II’s Coronation in 1953, this will be an 
opportunity for families and communities across the country to come 
together to celebrate. 
 

2.4 Although there has not been any information shared by the Cabinet 
Office, it is clear that, as in previous Royal events, there is a desire for 
communities to come together to celebrate. 
 

2.5 It is not known whether there will be requirement or opportunity to hold 

Page 65

Agenda Item 9



 Page 2 of 3 

Civic services during the weekend of the Coronation, however there is 
likely to be requests for Communities and Parishes to hold street parties 
or organised events. 
 

2.6 The Council has not been advised whether any funding will be made 
available from Central Government for Councils or Parish/Town Councils 
but officers are assuming that in line with the Platinum Jubilee, there will 
be no funding made available. 
 

2.7 The council will be holding all out elections on Thursday 4 May with the 
count being held for Borough and Parish Council elections on Friday 5 
May. The date for the retirement of existing Councillors is currently 
Monday 8 May. The Mayor will remain in post until the meeting of Annual 
Council, irrespective of whether they are elected on 4 May 2023 

 
 

2.8 The proposal 

 

2.9 As we do not currently know many details of the Coronation, It is 

recommended that a cross party working group is set up to discuss 

the Coronation. It is recommended that the group be chaired by the 

Mayor and consists of one member from each political group on the 

council. It is further recommended that this group reports directly to 

the Communities Committee, unless there is a requirement for Policy 

and Resources to agree any spend. 

 

3.0.     Other alternatives considered and rejected by officers 

 

3.1 Not to hold a working party but for officers to bring reports to either the 

Community Committee or Policy and Resources Committee. This was 

rejected as the role of the Committees are decision making and the 

benefit of the working group is that it can receive update reports, 

whilst not making formal decisions. 

 
4 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 

 
4.1 No consultation has been undertaken to date, however subject to the agreement 

of Policy and Resources Committee the Leader would raise it at the next meeting 
of the Local Councils Liaison Forum which is due to be held in February 2023. 
 

5 Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Although the Coronation does not affect the corporate plan, 

the coming together of communities does meet the ambitions 

of the plan 

Page 66



 Page 3 of 3 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

There is currently no identified budget to undertake any coronation 
celebrations or provide money to local groups to do so 

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

There are no implications. 

 

Crime and 
Disorder 

There are no implications. 

 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

There are no implications. 

 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Community events can aid  Health and Wellbeing 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

There are no implications. 

 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

There are no implications. 

 

Equality and 
Diversity 

Equality and Diversity will be considered in the arranging 

of any events  

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

Any data held as part of any potential bid process will be held in 
accordance with council polices 

 
 
6 Appendices 
6.1 None 
 
7 Background Papers 
7.1 None 
 
   

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy and Resources Committee Forward Decisions Plan – December 2022 meeting 

 

Report title, background 
information and recommendation(s) 

Date of 
meeting 

Open or 
exempt? 

Lead Officer and report author 

34 Hour Working week  14/12/22 Open  Head of Service: Lisa Fillery  
 
Report author: Lisa Fillery  

Q2 Budget Monitoring 14/12/22 Open Head of Service: Lisa Fillery  
 
Report author: Head of Finance and 
Procurement 

Council Tax Support Scheme  14/12/22 Open  Head of Service: Lisa Fillery  
 
Report author: Zoe Kent  

Coronation preparation TBC Open Head of Service: TBC 
 
Report author: TBC 

Treasury Management Strategy 
2022/23 

February 23 Open  Head of Service: Lisa Fillery  
 
Report author: Head of Finance and 
Procurement  

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 11



Final Budget and Medium-Term 
Financial Plan including fees and 
charges 

February 23 Open Head of Service: Lisa Fillery  
 
Report author: Lisa Fillery  

Council Tax Support Scheme  February 23 
 

Open Head of Service: Lisa Fillery  
 
Report author: Zoe Kent 

Risk Update report  22/03/23 Open Head of Service: Alison Blake 
 
Report author: Alison Blake 

Q3 Budget Monitoring  22/03/23 Open Head of Service: Lisa Fillery  
 
Report author: Head of Finance and 
Procurement  

Domestic Abuse Policy Adoption  
 

22/03/23 Open Head of Service: Charlotte Hudson 
 
Report Author: Steph Curtis  

Performance Monitoring & Priority 
Projects Report – 2022/23 year-end  

24/05/23 Open  Head of Service: David Clifford 
 
Report author: Tony Potter  

2022/23 Outturn report July 23 Open Head of Service: Lisa Fillery  
 
Report author: Lisa Fillery 

P
age 70



 

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Council Tax Support Scheme
	6 34 hour working week
	7 Q2 Budget Monitoring Report
	8 Performance Monitoring - 2022/23 Half-year
	APPENDIX II PandR Performance Report 202209 September Q2

	9 Coronation of King Charles III
	11 Forward Decisions Plan

